THE INFLUENCE OF AGE ON THE RECOVERY FROM WORKSITE RESISTANCE EXERCISE

Abbie Trivisonno

A thesis submitted to the faculty at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in the Department of Exercise and Sport Science in the College of Arts and Sciences (Exercise Physiology).

Chapel Hill 2019

Approved by:

Eric D. Ryan

Abbie E. Smith-Ryan

Jacob A. Mota

© 2019 Abbie Trivisonno ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Abbie Trivisonno: The Influence of Age on the Recovery from Worksite Resistance Exercise (Under the direction of Eric D. Ryan)

Worksite resistance exercise can reduce injuries and improve performance in the fire service. This study examined the influence of age on the recovery from a worksite exercise routine. Nineteen young and 19 older firefighters completed an acute bout of resistance exercise in addition to pre- and post-testing 24, 48, and 72 hours post-exercise. Upper- and lower-body strength, muscle activation, ultrasonography, countermovement jump, and muscle soreness were measured to assess recovery. Linear mixed model (controlling for work-related fatigue) results revealed no (group × time) interactions. Group effects indicated the young firefighters exhibited greater lower-body force, jump performance, and better muscle quality than the older firefighters ($P \le 0.047$). Time effects indicated that upper-body force, lower-body rapid forces, early muscle activation, and jump performance decreased and muscle soreness and size increased ($P \le 0.044$). These results suggest that age does not influence recovery from worksite resistance exercise in firefighters.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project was made possible through the support and guidance of my thesis committee and colleagues within the Neuromuscular Assessment Laboratory. First, I would like to thank Dr. Eric Ryan for helping me to conduct a unique project that reflects my interests and aspirations. Secondly, I would also like to thank Dr. Abbie-Smith Ryan for her insight and advice in developing this project, reviewing this document, and assisting with any questions I had along the way. I would also like to thank Mr. Jacob Mota for his assistance throughout the entirety of this project, reviewing this document, and providing helpful feedback. In addition, I would like to thank Hayden Giuliani for her assistance with this project, reviewing this document, and providing helpful feedback. I would also like to thank the entire research team, including Megan Laffan and all our research assistants, for their valuable help with data collection and analysis. Finally, I would like to thank the Chapel Hill, Carrboro, Cary, Durham, and Burlington Fire Departments for their support and assistance with this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS ix
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION 1
Purpose2
Research Question
Research Hypothesis
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE
Current Health and Fitness of the Fire Service
Benefits of Resistance Training
Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage (EIMD)
Mechanisms of EIMD
Consequences of EIMD7
Histologic Responses7
Systemic Responses
Symptomatic Responses
The Significance of Strength as an Indirect Marker of EIMD10
Impact of Training Status on EIMD Recovery11
The Impact of Sex on EIMD Recovery12

Impact of Aging on EIMD
EIMD Recovery in Old v. Young 15
EIMD Recovery in Middle-age v. Young 17
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY 19
Participants 19
Experimental Design
Statistical Analysis
CHAPTER IV: MANUSCRIPT
Introduction
Methods
Participants
Experimental Design
Statistical Analysis
Results
Discussion
CHAPTER V: SUMMARY
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Demographics	55
Table 2: Unadjusted raw means for the dependent variables	56
Table 3: Unadjusted raw means for the training session	57

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Experimental design
Figure 2: Changes in work-related fatigue
Figure 3: Marginal mean changes in upper-body soreness
Figure 4: Marginal mean changes in lower-body soreness
Figure 5: Marginal mean changes in vastus lateralis cross-sectional area
Figure 6: Marginal means for young and older groups' vastus lateralis echo-intensity
Figure 7: Marginal mean changes in biceps brachii muscle thickness
Figure 8: Marginal means for countermovement jump height
Figure 9: Marginal means for countermovement jump velocity
Figure 10: Marginal mean changes in upper-body peak force
Figure 11: Marginal means for young and older groups' lower-body peak force
Figure 12: Marginal mean changes in lower-body force at 100ms
Figure 13: Marginal mean changes in lower-body force at 150ms
Figure 14: Marginal means for lower-body force at 200ms
Figure 15: Marginal mean changes in EMG amplitude at 0-100ms
Figure 16: Marginal mean changes in EMG amplitude at 100-200ms
Figure 17: Marginal mean changes in rating of perceived exertion
Figure 18: Marginal means for percent of heart rate reserve

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BB	Biceps brachii
BMI	Body mass index
СМЈ	Countermovement jump
СК	Creatine kinase
CSA	Cross sectional area
DOMS	Delayed-onset muscle soreness
ECC	Excitation-contraction coupling
EI	Echo-intensity
EIMD	Exercise-induced muscle damage
EMG	Electromyography
MSK	Musculoskeletal
MT	Muscle thickness
MVC	Maximal voluntary contraction
ROM	Range of motion
SFT	Subcutaneous fat thickness
US	Ultrasonography
VAS	Visual analog scale
VL	Vastus lateralis

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Firefighters provide critical emergency services to communities across the country, despite experiencing one of the highest rates of occupational injuries.^{1,2} The National Fire Protection Association reported that there were 68,085 injuries among firefighters in 2015.³ The primary non-fatal injuries that are commonly reported include strains and sprains¹⁻³ to the extremities and back⁴ and are often attributed to acute overexertion and slips, trips, and falls.³ These injuries result in above average worker's compensation claims,⁵ extended worker absence rates,^{1,6} and are the leading cause of early retirement in firefighters.⁷

Exercise has been consistently listed as the primary approach to reducing injuries in the fire service.^{8,9} However, more than 75% of firefighters fail to achieve the minimum physical activity recommendations from the American College of Sports Medicine.¹⁰ The workplace (e.g. fire station) may provide an optimal setting to improve the exercise habits of firefighters. For example, worksite exercise programs may offer unique advantages to the employee that include convenience (i.e. less travel, ease of access to equipment), lower associated-costs, and improved camaraderie among co-workers who train together.¹¹ Previous studies have shown that worksite exercise can improve working physical capacity, musculoskeletal (MSK) pain, and reduce the incidence of injury in a number of occupations.^{6,12,13} It is well documented that resistance training improves muscle strength, power, and endurance, ¹⁴⁻¹⁶ which are critical to the safe execution of essential firefighter tasks.^{13,17-19} Furthermore, resistance training has been shown to target risk factors associated with the primary non-fatal injuries reported among firefighters.^{20,21}

These data may demonstrate that worksite resistance exercise can be an important tool to reduce injuries and improve performance in the fire service.

Nearly all United States firefighters are between the ages of 20 – 59 years.²² Given the large age range of firefighters, it is important to determine if aging influences their recovery from a worksite resistance exercise routine. Previous studies have indicated that age may influence the adaptations following chronic resistance training,^{23,24} and it is possible that these alterations may be mediated by a prolonged recovery response.^{25,26} Furthermore, an altered recovery response in older firefighters may have unintended consequences that include increases in the risk of strain and sprain injuries and impaired subsequent job performance when performed onshift. These studies may suggest that future research is needed to examine the influence of aging on the recovery following worksite resistance training to inform future worksite exercise prescription among firefighters.

<u>Purpose</u>

The overall objective of this proposal is to examine the influence of age on recovery, using indirect markers of muscle damage, following an acute bout of worksite resistance training in young and older firefighters.

Research Question

Does age impact firefighters' recovery from an acute bout of worksite resistance training?
<u>Research Hypothesis</u>

 We hypothesize that the older firefighters will have a prolonged recovery response when compared to their younger counterparts.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Current Health and Fitness of the Fire Service

Firefighters play a critical role in public safety, providing life-saving services. There are currently about 1,160,450 firefighters²² and, as emergency first responders, they are recognized as one of the most physically demanding, dangerous, and, stressful civilian occupations.²⁷⁻²⁹ The dangerous and demanding physical tasks that are required for this occupation (forcible entry, rescues, fire suppression, etc.) result in a high risk for injury and fatality.²⁸ Firefighters have one of the highest occupational injury rates among emergency responders, accounting for 30% of all injuries and 7.4 injuries per 100 full-time employees.³⁰ The National Fire Protection Association estimated that over 62,000 firefighter injuries occurred in 2016, with an injury occurring every eight minutes and 28 seconds.³¹ The majority of these injuries occur as strains and sprains^{1-3,32} to the extremities and back^{4,32} and are attributed to slips, trips, and falls and overexertion.³ In order to reduce these risks, firefighters must maintain high levels of physical preparedness.

Previous research has shown that optimal firefighter health and performance requires high levels of cardiovascular fitness, muscular strength, muscular endurance, power, and flexibility.^{33,34} Firefighters must also be conditioned to resist fatigue in poor environmental conditions such as extreme temperatures and smoke-filled air, while wearing heavy personal protective equipment.^{9,35,36} Physical fitness variables have consistently been correlated with performance of firefighter specific tasks.^{18,37-41} For example, Rhea et al.¹⁸ found that overall task performance in firefighters was significantly correlated with muscular strength, local muscular endurance, and anaerobic endurance. In addition, having greater upper- and lower-body strength and endurance (as determined with resistance exercise testing) was correlated with the efficiency of completing job specific tasks such as hose pulls, dummy drags, stair climbs, and hoists.¹⁸ Michaelides et al.³⁹ found that 55% of the variation in performance of a firefighter ability test was explained by upper-body strength, upper-body endurance, and body composition. Other studies^{37,38,40,41} have found similar results emphasizing the importance of maintaining high levels of physical fitness in the fire service in order to perform their duties effectively. However, it has been reported that more than 75% of firefighters fail to achieve the minimum physical activity recommendations from the American College of Sports Medicine.¹⁰ It has also been estimated that approximately 80% of fire departments do not have physical fitness programs designed to improve or maintain health and fitness.⁴² These data may suggest that novel, cost-effective, and more feasible exercise interventions are needed in the fire service.

Many recent studies have suggested that the fire service has an obesity epidemic. For example, recent estimates suggest that 79.5% of career firefighters and 78.4% of volunteer firefighters are obese or overweight.⁴³ Furthermore, Soteriades et al.⁴⁴ found that obesity rates increased from 35% to 40% in a five year period, along with a four-fold increase in the number of firefighters with extreme obesity. Several studies have also found firefighters to gain an average of 1.2-3.4 lbs per year.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ Obesity is also associated with a greater risk of job disability in firefighters, including a 5% increased risk for every one unit increase in BMI above 25.⁴⁷ Jitnarin et al.⁴⁸ found that the prevalence of obesity in firefighters may be even higher when calculating body fat percentage rather than BMI and waist circumference. These high rates of obesity are a significant problem because obese firefighters are more likely to get injured,⁴⁹ have higher rates of disability and absenteeism^{47,50} resulting in significant costs to the department,⁵⁰

have a greater risk of cardiovascular events,^{44,51,52} and perform more poorly during firefighter tasks.^{39,41}

Benefits of Resistance Training

Resistance training is a common modality used to improve muscular strength, power, and endurance.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ In addition, the health-related benefits of resistance training are numerous⁵³ and have been shown to be appropriate for a number of populations.^{6,12,13} For example, resistance exercise is effective for increasing muscular strength which reduces the risk of all-cause mortality,⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ improves cardiovascular risk factors,^{57,58} reduces pain and disability,^{12,59} and decreases the risk of developing a MSK disorder.⁶⁰ Resistance training is also effective for improving functional capacity^{61,62} and body composition.^{63,64} All of these factors are important for the health and performance of many populations, and because of this, resistance training has become a popular tool to improve occupational health and performance, and injury outcomes. For example, resistance training has been used in workplace interventions to improve pain in the neck and shoulders, ^{59,65,66} and low-back.⁵⁹ Sundstrup et al.⁶⁷ also found that specific strength training improved muscular fatigue resistance, self-rated health, and reduced pain in slaughterhouse workers suffering from chronic upper limb pain. In further support, a one year resistance training worksite intervention resulted in significant decreases in systolic blood pressure, body fat percentage, and pain, as well as an increase in muscular strength.⁶⁸ Specifically in firefighters, Pawlak et al.⁶⁹ found that a twelve week circuit training program led to significant improvements in body mass, fat mass, BMI, and the completion rate of a simulated fire ground test. Similarly, Peterson et al.²⁷ found that a traditional linear periodized training program and an undulating training program improved firefighter's upper- and lower-body muscular strength, peak power output, vertical jump, and completion of simulated firefighter

tasks. In conclusion, resistance training may be effective for firefighters in order to improve current fitness levels, improve job-related performance,^{13,17-19} and ultimately reduce their risk for on-the-job injuries.^{6,12,13} However, given the physical nature of their work, it is important to examine recovery from worksite resistance training and consider how age specifically may play a significant role.

Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage (EIMD)

Exercise-induced muscle damage (EIMD) is a condition that includes ultrastructural changes in contractile filaments of the muscle resulting in numerous symptoms (i.e. soreness, swelling, force loss, etc.) when someone engages in unaccustomed, intense exercise.⁷⁰ Specifically, exercise related activities that include eccentric or isometric muscle actions at longer muscle lengths have been shown to result in the greatest muscular damage.⁷¹⁻⁷⁵ Previous studies have demonstrated histological evidence of ultrastructural changes at the level of the sarcomere,^{76,77} which presents as a collection of systemic and symptomatic changes that occur in the days following the exercise bout.⁷⁸⁻⁸¹ The subsequent sections will detail how muscle damage occurs, what the consequences are, and why strength is considered the primary outcome variable to examine the magnitude and recovery of muscle damage.

Mechanisms of EIMD

Exercise-induced muscle damage is most prominent when the acute bout of exercise includes repetitive eccentric muscle actions.^{77,82} Previous studies have suggested that repetitive eccentric muscle actions may alter skeletal muscle at the level of the contractile units,^{76,77} membrane, and connective tissue.⁸³⁻⁸⁵ High volume eccentric muscle actions have been shown to result in myofibrillar disruption, or Z-line streaming.^{76,77} Morgan et al.⁸⁶ proposed that during the mechanical strain caused by eccentric muscle actions, the nonuniformity of half-sarcomeres

results in overstretching and weakening of sarcomeres beyond myofilament overlap. This is known as the "popped sarcomere" theory and suggests that passive tension increases as a result.⁸⁶ The continual repetition of these lengthening contractions then begins to impact more sarcomeres and eventually results in damage to the muscle. Another noted disruption from eccentric contractions is damage to the excitation-contraction coupling (ECC) system.^{83,84} This hypothesis has been supported through findings in mice where caffeine has been shown to recover post-exercise decreases in tension, supposedly through initiating Ca²⁺ release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum.^{83,84} These processes can lead to an acute rightward shift in the lengthtension curve due to the over-stretching and mechanical disruption of lengthening sarcomeres.^{87-⁸⁹ However, this shift may only occur when eccentric muscle actions are utilized at longer muscle lengths.^{90,91} Recent theories now suggest that the occurrence of damage to the skeletal muscle such as Z-line streaming may not in fact be indicators of damage but rather indicative of the muscle remodeling and adaptation.⁹²}

Consequences of EIMD

Exercise-induced muscle damage is a multifactorial issue, which results in histologic (i.e. myofibrillar disruptions), systemic (e.g. creatine kinase, inflammatory markers), and symptomatic (e.g. soreness, swelling, force loss) consequences.

Histologic Responses

When investigating muscle damage directly, the examination of muscle tissue harvested from biopsies allows for the study of alterations in muscle structure after damaging exercise bouts,^{71,72} revealing myofibrillar disruptions in the form of Z-line smearing.^{76,77,93} There is also evidence of a widening of perimysial areas between fascicles and a separation of the muscle fibers within the fascicles, along with alterations to the extracellular matrix components.⁸⁵ The

culmination of these alterations is likely what triggers the inflammatory response to eccentric exercise.^{85,94} Although the use of muscle biopsy techniques allows us to examine ultrastructural changes within the muscle it also requires expertise with the procedure, can be very costly, and is an extremely invasive procedure on participants. It has also been shown that a muscle can take over two weeks to recover from a needle biopsy procedure⁹⁵ which prevents the use of frequent, repeated measures to monitor the acute recovery process. Thus, many indirect markers of muscle damage (discussed below) have been established that are easily measured, relatively inexpensive, and are much less invasive for the participants.

Systemic Responses

The inflammatory response to EIMD is an extremely complex process that aims to repair damage and reestablish homeostasis, and may also contribute to the remodeling and adaptation of skeletal muscle.^{96,97} The basic inflammatory response includes an accumulation of leukocytes as evidenced in muscle biopsies after eccentric exercise.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ There appears to be accumulations of neutrophils within the 24 hours post-exercise^{98,101} while monocytes and macrophages tend to accumulate beyond 48 hours post-exercise.^{94,102,103} These leukocytes are mobilized within the circulation^{104,105} and then proceed toward the site of damage where they begin the processes of breakdown, repair, and remodeling.^{106,107} Previous studies have suggested that the severity of leukocyte accumulation correlates with the severity of force reduction and the timelines of recovery exhibit similar patterns.^{101,108} Several other inflammatory agents such as mast cells, T-lymphocytes, eosinophils, and cytokines are recruited to the site of muscle damage and contribute to the repair and remodeling processes as further described by Peake et al.¹⁰⁹

Another commonly measured systemic response to EIMD includes the measurement of serum proteins such as creatine kinase.^{79,110-112} High levels of creatine kinase (CK) within the

bloodstream have typically been used to indicate severe muscle damage such as myocardial infarctions^{113,114} or exertional rhabdomyolysis.^{115,116} However, it is now well known that elevated levels of CK can been seen in response to eccentric exercise.^{79,110-112} Creatine kinase was once thought of as a primary marker of muscle damage, but has since been questioned due to its variability within subjects.^{111,117} Other serum proteins and blood constituents such as myoglobin, alanine aminotransferase, and lactate dehydrogenase have shown significant increases after strenuous eccentric exercise, however they typically respond less drastically than CK.^{81,118} Although the presence of blood markers, such as CK, typically increase significantly after eccentric exercise, the timeline of these increases may not consistently correlate with changes in muscle function⁷⁸ or evidence of muscle damage.¹¹⁹

Symptomatic Responses

Several other measurements have been used as indirect indicators of muscle damage such as soreness, swelling, and neuromuscular function. As with other measurements of muscle damage, these indicators vary due to the type of damaging protocol (i.e. volume, intensity) and the characteristic of the subject (i.e. training status, sex, age).¹²⁰ Delayed-onset muscle soreness (DOMS) typically peaks 24-48hrs post-exercise^{112,121} and resides within 8-10 days,¹¹² however the presence or absence of DOMS does not correlate well with the muscle's functional ability.⁸⁰ Ultrasonography has been used to assess muscle thickness and muscle quality via echo-intensity. Muscle thickness has increased as a result of swelling from eccentric contractions⁷⁹ and echointensity tends to increase,^{79,110,122} which is believed to be a marker of interstitial edema.¹²³ Electromyography has been used to demonstrate that greater muscle activation may be required to produce the same force up to 48hrs after eccentric exercise.^{121,124,125} This neuromuscular inefficiency has also been shown in performance related tasks such as jumping¹²⁶ and endurance exercise^{127,128} which are negatively impacted following exercise-induced muscle damage. Strength testing has become one of the most frequent and reliable measurements of monitoring muscle damage recovery,^{78,129} often done with isometric maximal voluntary contractions (MVC). Typically, muscle function following eccentric muscle actions of the elbow flexors has resulted in an immediate strength decrease of 30-60% from baseline MVC.^{80,110,130-132} It has been suggested that eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors may have a recovery half-time as long as 5-6 weeks,¹³³ and full recovery has been shown to take up to 12 weeks.¹³⁰ Strength decrements are typically less for the lower-body compared to the upper-body^{122,134} possibly due to constant loading and frequent use. Typically, the knee extensors have shown strength decreases of 20-40% from baseline MVC,^{126,135-138} recently however, Damas et al.⁷⁸ found decreases of up to 80% of baseline MVC in a large sample size. There is some evidence that lower body muscle function may return to or near baseline levels around seven days post-exercise.^{126,136-138}

The Significance of Strength as an Indirect Marker of EIMD

Recently, the measurement of isometric strength has been established as the primary indicator of muscle damage.^{78,129} Decreases in force production have been proposed to result from mechanical damage of the sarcomeres^{71,76} and ECC dysfunction,^{83,84} and thus provide a good representation of the extent and recovery from muscle damage. Damas et al.⁷⁸ examined the recovery from an acute bout of EIMD in a large sample of young men following 30 maximal eccentric muscle actions of the elbow flexors. A cluster analysis was used to stratify subjects based on their decrease in MVC post-exercise and the groups that responded with the largest decreases in all other measured variables (i.e. soreness, CK activity, range of motion, and circumference). Thus, the extent to which strength is impaired tends to represent the extent of muscle damage incurred.

Damas et al.⁷⁸ and others^{109,139} have previously suggested that mild EIMD was considered a reduction of <20% in force output, moderate damage was considered >20% decline in force output, and severe damage was considered a reduction in strength >50%. Many factors such as the exercise protocol, training status, and age play a role in the extent of strength reduction and the recovery timeline.

Impact of Training Status on EIMD Recovery

Research examining EIMD has utilized subjects with a variety of training statuses. Because of the phenomenon known as the "repeated bout effect", ^{110,112} there has been speculation that resistance trained individuals may have a blunted response to muscle damaging exercise. This hypothesis was supported by Newton et al.¹⁴⁰ who compared resistance trained and untrained men after eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. The resistance trained group showed significantly smaller changes in maximal isometric and isokinetic torque, range of motion (ROM), circumference, and plasma CK.¹⁴⁰ Muscular strength was recovered to baseline levels after three days in the trained group while the untrained group still showed a 40% decrease in MVC, indicating there may be a greater degree of damage and a longer recovery timeline in untrained subjects. Furthermore, Gibala et al.⁷² found that strength trained men experienced only half of the fiber damage of untrained men who were examined in their previous work.⁷¹ Although no statistical significance can be applied to these data, it is also interesting to note that the strength trained men appeared to approach full recovery of contractile damage five days after eccentric damage⁷² whereas previous work in untrained men showed significantly reduced muscle function at five days post-eccentric exercise.⁷¹ This supports previous data in which muscle biopsies at seven and twelve days after eccentric exercise in untrained men showed signs of fiber disruption.⁹⁴ However, these findings are in contrast to Vincent et al.¹⁴¹ who examined

the effect of training status on muscle damage recovery from an acute bout of resistance training. Subjects completed a training session focusing on the knee extensors on day one and the knee flexors on day two to simulate a split training program. There were no significant differences in groups for maximal isometric torque, circumference, ROM, or DOMS, however the creatine kinase response was significantly higher for the untrained group on days 2-5. It should be noted that the exercise program differed between groups as the untrained group used a smith machine instead of free weights for squat and completed one less set. The trained group also completed four sets of stiff-leg deadlift while the untrained group did none and untrained group completed three more sets of lying leg curl. This translated to a total workload of 2,735,220 N for the trained group and 1,620,449 N for the untrained group which may have impacted the degree of muscle damage experienced by the groups. It is also possible that the use of eccentric contractions at a single joint such as those used by Newton et al.¹⁴⁰ and Gibala et al.^{71,72} caused more severe localized muscle damage than Vincent et al.¹⁴¹ In conclusion, there is evidence to support that resistance trained subjects may be more resistant to EIMD and this should be noted as a significant factor when examining the muscle damage in specific populations.

The Impact of Sex on EIMD Recovery

There has been considerable debate whether EIMD is impacted by sex. Specifically, estrogen has been proposed as one of the protective mechanisms for muscle damage^{142,143} which potentially indicates females may have a reduced response to exercise-induced damage. However, the research in this field varies considerably. Hubal et al.¹⁴⁴ found no significant differences in the relative changes of MVC between males or females after isokinetic eccentric contractions of the elbow flexors. Although there appears to be no differences in DOMS between males and females after EIMD,¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷ differences have been found in other factors of

recovery. For example, Flores et al.¹⁴⁸ found sex differences in muscle swelling and peak torque recovery after a concentric/eccentric resistance training protocol of the elbow flexors which indicated a longer recovery timeline for females. In contrast, Sayers et al.¹³⁰ examined differences in EIMD in males and females after eccentric contractions of the elbow flexors. Although they found similar decrements in isometric strength, there was a much larger number of females who experienced force reductions >70% of baseline MVC and they tended to recover force production quicker than males who experienced similar decrements in force.¹³⁰ Similarly, Sewright et al.¹⁴⁵ found that more females experienced strength losses >70% after eccentric exercise, but females also experienced significantly greater strength losses immediately post-exercise compared to males. Furthermore, Hakkinen et al.¹⁴⁹ found that females recovered maximal force to a greater extent than males in the first hour after a heavy resistance training session. However, no differences existed in their recovery at two hours, one day, and two days post-exercise. Due to the inconsistencies within this research, it is possible that sex may impact the recovery response, and this should be considered in future research.

Impact of Aging on EIMD

It is well-known that the aging process is associated with declines in functional capacity,⁶² however the relationship between age and EIMD recovery is less clear. Between the second and seventh decades there are significant decreases in muscle size,¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵² strength,^{150,153,154} and proportion of type II muscle fibers.^{152,153,155} When considering these age-related changes in skeletal muscle, it is often assumed that older individuals would have a prolonged recovery from EIMD due to an increased susceptibility to damage and an elongated repair process. The proposed mechanisms behind this assumption include differences in muscle fiber composition,¹⁵⁶ dysfunction in the ECC process,^{157,158} and an altered inflammatory response.¹⁵⁹

One of the possible mechanisms of increased susceptibility to EIMD in older individuals involves the well documented loss of type II fibers in aging individuals.^{152,153,155} There is evidence that muscle damage resulting from eccentric exercise is predominant within type II muscle fibers.^{76,136,160} Choi et al.¹⁵⁶ found that type IIa and type IIa/IIx muscle fibers from elderly subjects were much more susceptible to muscle damage than type I fibers. This is in contrast to what has been observed in younger subjects ¹⁶¹ and it was proposed that elderly adults experience deterioration of the myofilament lattice in type IIa and type IIa/IIx fibers.¹⁵⁶ This increase in susceptibility to muscle damage in type II fibers could be a result of greater mechanical strain across fewer fibers because of the loss of type II fibers in older individuals. There is also evidence that ECC dysfunction occurs in fast-twitch fibers of older individuals.^{157,158} A decrease in dihydropyridine receptor activity in elderly muscles results in a reduced release of calcium which may impact muscle contractions. This occurrence, along with potential decrements in ECC function as a result of muscle damage,^{83,84} may further impact the recovery from muscle damage in the elderly. There may also be an impaired recovery in older individuals because of a decrease in the number of satellite cells, specifically in type II muscle fibers.^{162,163} Satellite cells have been shown to contribute to muscle repair and regeneration,^{164,165} and the reduced number in older individuals could potentially impact this process.

Another possible mechanism involves alterations in the inflammatory response. Hamada et al.¹⁵⁹ found that elderly subjects experienced a dysfunction in the inflammatory response to EIMD compared to younger subjects. There was a reduced recruitment of leukocytes in older compared to younger subjects, indicated by changes in CD18, along with a lesser accumulation of IL-6, an anti-inflammatory cytokine. These dysfunctions indicate an abnormal inflammatory

response to muscle damage which may have negative implications. Although all of these potential mechanisms provide evidence that aging may impact the recovery process, many other factors, such as sex and training status, as well as the methods and devices used to measure EIMD vary greatly between studies and these inconsistencies have resulted in conflicting findings in the literature.

EIMD Recovery in Old v. Young

Previous studies have indicated that aging may influence the adaptations following chronic resistance training,^{23,24} and it is possible that these alterations may be mediated by a prolonged recovery response.^{26,78} The majority of research examining the impact of age on muscle damage recovery compares groups of young and elderly subjects,^{26,111,166,167} which are typically termed as ≥ 65 years old. Results from Lavender et al.¹⁶⁷ suggest that elderly subjects may be less susceptible to muscle damage compared to younger subjects. After completing six sets of five eccentric actions of the elbow flexors the young subjects had significantly larger decreases in isometric strength and range of motion along with greater increases in DOMS, CK, and myoglobin compared to the older subjects. However, this study allowed for voluntary completion of the eccentric movements as opposed to using dynamometry to control for speed and range of motion through the movement. Because the older subjects had significantly smaller baseline ROM it is likely that they completed the eccentric contractions through a shorter ROM which has been shown to result in less muscular damage.^{137,168} Furthermore, Nikolaidis¹⁶⁹ found no differences between young and elderly men when examining isometric torque, ROM, DOMS, CK activity, and oxidative stress after eccentric-biased squats. However, measurements were only taken before and 48hrs after exercise.

In contrast to these findings, Manfredi et al.¹¹¹ compared levels of CK activity in older and younger subjects and took muscle biopsies of the vastus lateralis in older subjects after completing three 15-minute eccentric cycling periods at power outputs of 90, 80, and 70% of VO₂max. There appeared to be no relationship between CK activity and muscle damage which led to speculation of the use of CK as an indirect marker. There was also evidence of ultrastructural muscle damage in greater than 90% of fibers in the older men immediately after the exercise bout.¹¹¹ However, muscle biopsies were not taken from the young subjects so direct statistical comparison is not possible. Other research utilizing a cycle ergometer eccentric muscle damage protocol found fiber disruption in 5-10 % of young subjects,¹⁷⁰ which suggests that older subjects may exhibit greater levels of muscle damage, although no biopsies were taken from the younger subjects in the study by Manfredi et al.¹¹¹

When examining age differences in females, Dedrick et al.¹⁷¹ found that physically active older females had a slower recovery of isometric strength after eccentric muscle actions of the elbow flexors. Younger subjects experienced their greatest decrease in strength on day one post-exercise and returned to baseline strength on day three. However, the older subjects experienced a continual decrease in isometric strength until two days post-exercise and remained significantly below baseline on the 5th day post-exercise. In addition, Clarkson et al.¹⁶⁶ examined differences in CK activity, flexed and relaxed elbow angle, and pain in older and younger females following eccentric exercise of the forearm flexors. The authors¹⁶⁶ found no differences between changes in CK activity, flexed elbow angle, or pain, however, the older subjects did experience a significant reduction in relaxed arm angle compared to the younger group on day two after the exercise bout.

EIMD Recovery in Middle-age v. Young

It has been suggested that age-related changes in skeletal muscle begin to occur during the later years of the second decade,¹⁵¹ whereas other evidence supports skeletal muscle retention until the fifth decade.^{172,173} Currently, there is little research examining how middle-aged men are impacted during the early years of physiological alterations and whether these effects impact their ability to recover from EIMD.¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁶ While the majority of the fire service is 20-59 years, nearly half of the fire service is over 40 years old.²² Thus, because they compose a significant portion of the firefighter population, it is extremely important to specifically examine the physiological responses of the middle-aged population. Lavender et al.¹⁷⁶ compared the recovery responses in young and middle-aged men after six sets of five eccentric contractions of the elbow flexors using 40% of their maximal isometric strength. No significant differences existed between groups for maximal isometric strength, arm circumference, or range of motion. Surprisingly, the younger men had significantly higher levels of muscle soreness compared to middle-age men. It was proposed that perhaps the middle-aged men had experienced more pain in their life and so perceived the muscular soreness as less severe, however that is just one proposed theory.¹⁷⁶ Gordon et al.¹⁷⁴ examined recovery differences in recreationally trained young and middle-aged men after eight sets of ten repetitions of knee extension on an isokinetic dynamometer at 60° /sec. No differences were found between groups for peak torque, average torque, or rate of torque development at 200ms. Similarly, no differences between groups were found in myoglobin, CK, C-reactive protein, or interleukin-6 suggesting that the recovery response from high-volume isokinetic exercise may be similar for young and middle-aged recreationally trained men. However, the sample size was small (n=9 and n=10) and measurements were only taken up to 48hrs post-exercise. The authors also acknowledged that

the use of a single-joint isokinetic protocol to elicit damage is not specific to the types of exercise-induced damage experienced by lifters and future studies may use multi-joint, dynamic exercises to observe the recovery response.

To the best of our knowledge, there is currently only one study that utilized a practical acute bout of resistance training to compare the recovery response in young and middle-age men.¹⁷⁵ McLester et al.¹⁷⁵ compared muscular endurance recovery between young (18 to 30 years) and middle-aged men (50 to 65 years) as they completed three sets of repetitions to failure for eight exercises at a predetermined ten repetition maximum load. They found that repetitions completed at 24 and 48hrs apart were not significantly different between groups, but after 72hrs of rest, the younger group completed significantly more repetitions than the middle-aged group. At 96hrs there were no statistically significant differences between groups, although *P*=0.06 which may be noted as a trend for the groups to differ. However, it should be noted that the results of this study were underpowered and although the use of repetitions to failure was further validated as a reliable measurement¹⁷⁷ the were no previously validated indirect markers of muscle damage used to assess the subjects' recovery. Thus, a gap in the literature still remains to examine the impact of aging on EIMD recovery using a practical resistance training protocol.

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

Participants

Twenty young and 21 older active-duty male career firefighters volunteered to take part in this study. Demographic data are displayed in Table 1. Three participants withdrew from the study due to experiencing low back musculoskeletal pain following testing (2 older firefighters) or a lack of follow-up contact following testing (1 younger firefighter), therefore, 38 participants completed all testing visits (19 young and 19 older firefighters). The firefighters were solicited from local departments near the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. All participants provided written and dated informed consent (IRB# 18-0025) to participate in the research study. Additionally, the participants agreed to abstain from vigorous exercise (48 hours) or any exercise (24 hours) prior to all testing visits as well as abstain from any recovery strategies (i.e. massage, ice baths, ibuprofen, etc.) for the duration of the study. Participants also abstained from food and drinks (except water) four hours prior to their first visit and abstained from caffeine, tobacco, and alcohol (8 hours) prior to all testing visits. None of the participants reported any neuromuscular, cardiovascular, or metabolic disease (i.e., diabetes); had a current or recent (within the past three months) musculoskeletal injury of the upper- or lower-body and/or lower back that would not allow them to complete the testing; were involved in an active workers' compensation or personal injury case; currently performed more than three sessions per week of resistance training (on average) over the last three months. The average reported hours of resistance training per week for all participants was 2.00 ± 2.15 hours/wk..

Experimental Design

The experimental design is depicted in Figure 1. The participants completed five days of testing at local fire stations that included; a familiarization (visit one), pre-testing and an acute resistance exercise bout (visit two), and post-testing at 24, 48, and 72 hours following the bout of resistance exercise (visits 3-5). All visits were completed in the morning around the same time of day (\pm 2 hrs).

Familiarization (Visit One)

Each firefighter reported for visit one immediately after a shift, at least four days (mean \pm SD: 7.53 ± 3.19 days) prior to visit two. All participants read and signed an informed consent document stating the experimental protocol with the potential risks and benefits associated with participation in the study, as well as a health history questionnaire. Participants first had their height and weight measured and their body mass index (BMI) calculated. Height (HT) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a calibrated stadiometer. Body mass (BM) was measured to the nearest 0.01 kg using a calibrated clinical scale (Seca 769, Hamburg, Germany). Body mass index was calculated using the equation BMI=BM (kg)/HT² (m²). Participants were then familiarized with ultrasonography (US) imaging, a countermovement vertical jump (CMJ) assessment, isometric strength assessments, and the resistance training exercises. To prescribe the appropriate loads for the resistance exercise bout, each firefighter performed a multirepetition maximum assessment for each exercise (deadlift, shoulder press, lunge, and upright row) similar to procedures described by the National Strength and Conditioning Association.¹⁷⁸ Participants were initially instructed how to complete each exercise safely using proper form. The deadlift was completed using a kettlebell handle (KettleClamp, In The Box RX, LLC) and a commercially available plate-loaded dumbbell (ODH-20, Ader Sporting Goods, Dallas, TX,

USA). The shoulder press and lunges were completed using adjustable dumbbells (PowerBlock Inc., Owatonna, MN, USA) and the upright row was completed using a single adjustable dumbbell with a kettlebell handle (PowerBlock Inc., Owatonna, MN, USA). They performed a weighted warm-up for each exercise, with progressively heavier loads, for sets of 8-10 and 4-6 repetitions with one minute of rest between sets. After completing the warm-up sets, participants were given two minutes of rest. An estimated weight that the participant could lift for six repetitions was then selected for the participant to perform one set of as many repetitions as possible to failure. Using the weight and number of repetitions the participant completed, the participant's one repetition maximum (1RM) was estimated using the following modified equation:¹⁷⁹

$$1RM = \frac{Repetition Weight}{0.522 + 0.419e^{(-0.055xRTF)}}$$

The repetition weight is the load (kg) used for each exercise and RTF is the number of repetitions completed to failure. This calculation was used to estimate the 1RM for each exercise.

Testing (Visits 2-5)

Visit two (PRE) occurred following a participant's shift. Visits 3-5 occurred 24, 48, and 72 hours (P24, P48, P72, respectively) after visit two as participants were coming on- or offshift. All testing included a comprehensive neuromuscular assessment commonly used to examine recovery from exercise.⁷⁸ Each testing visit included 1) a questionnaire to assess the participant's current level of fatigue, 2) a visual analog scale (VAS) to determine subjective perceived muscle soreness, 3) ultrasonography to determine the size and echogenicity of the vastus lateralis (VL) and biceps brachii (BB), 4) a CMJ test to measure jump height and average velocity, 5) an upper-body (UB) maximum isometric strength assessment, and 6) a lower-body (LB) maximum and rapid isometric strength assessment using a calibrated custom isometric dynamometer with pre-amplified electromyographic (EMG) electrodes placed over the VL to examine muscle activation.

Fatigue Scale

To account for the unanticipated changes in work schedules, variability in occupational demands, and/or volume of calls that firefighters may experience on shift, a work-related fatigue (WRF) questionnaire¹⁸⁰ was used to determine WRF prior to testing during visits 2-5. The questionnaire asked participants: 'How tired are you right now as a result of your previous workday in: 1) your body in general; 2) your back; 3) your neck/shoulders; 4) your arms/wrists; and 5) your lower limbs?'. Participants were instructed to circle one answer for each of the five questions. The answer options included: 1) Not tired; 2) A little tired; 3) Somewhat tired; 4) Very tired; or 5) Completely exhausted. As described previously,¹⁸⁰ an average WRF score from all five questions was calculated for each participant on each visit and used in the analyses. Visual Analog Scale

A separate VAS was used to determine the participant's perceived muscle soreness for their lower- and upper-body during visits 2-5. The scale ranged from 0 (no discomfort at all) to 100 (worst imaginable pain) and asked the participants to rate their muscle soreness by placing a vertical mark on the line given.

Ultrasonography

A B-mode US (Logiq-e, General Electric Company, Milwaukee, WI, USA) with a multifrequency linear-array probe (12L-RS; 5-13 MHz; 38.4 mm FOV, General Electric Company, Milwaukee, WI, USA) was used to determine muscle size (cross-sectional area; CSA) and muscle quality (echo-intensity; EI) of the VL and muscle thickness (MT) and EI of the BB. All

imaging was performed on the right limbs and the settings for all scans were held constant at: gain (56 dB), depth (6 cm), frequency (10.0 MHz). Muscle size and EI of the VL were determined from a transverse panoramic scan of the thigh, as described previously.¹⁸¹ Prior to the VL imaging, the participants were positioned supine with the right leg relaxed and supported at 50 degrees of flexion, which was verified using a goniometer (Model G300, Whitehall Manufacturing, City of Industry, CA, USA). A piece of foam padding was strapped to the participant's leg in line with the transverse plane at mid-thigh (approximately halfway between the greater trochanter and lateral femoral epicondyle) so that the probe slid along the skin surface in a straight line perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the thigh. The probe was moved from the medial to lateral portion of the muscle at a consistent speed using non-allergenic ultrasound gel (Aquasonic 100, Parker Laboratories Inc, Fairfield, NJ, USA) to improve acoustic coupling. Muscle thickness of the BB was determined from a transverse scan at approximately 66% of the distance from the acromion of the scapula to the fossa cubit, as described previously.¹⁸² During the scan, participants were positioned with their arm extended, abducted, relaxed, and supported on a table. All US scans were completed by the same researcher.

All US imaging analyses were performed by the same investigator using ImageJ software (National Institute of Health, MD, USA, Version 1.37). The straight-line function was used to convert each image from pixels to centimeters. To determine CSA, the same technician used the polygon function to trace the outline of the VL for each participant's scan along the fascia border as close as possible to capture only the muscle. This traced region was then analyzed within ImageJ to determine CSA (cm²). The same ImageJ software was also used to determine muscle thickness of the BB using the straight-line function to measure the distance (cm) from the deep to superficial border of the BB at the mid-point of the muscle. The rectangle function was used to

measure the largest possible internal area of the BB, without including any surrounding fascia, which was then used for analysis of EI. Echo-intensity was determined for the VL and BB with a standard mean gray scale analysis, ranging from 0 - 255 units (black = 0, white = 255). Subcutaneous fat thickness (SFT) was measured by using the straight-line function to measure the depth of the subcutaneous fat layer from the average of the mid-point, medial, and lateral borders of the muscle for the VL¹⁸³ and from the mid-point of the BB.¹⁸²

Countermovement Vertical Jump

For the CMJ, participants were positioned with feet shoulder-width apart and were instructed to jump vertically, as high as possible, and return to the same position with both feet landing at the same time. A jump mat (Just Jump or Run, Probotics, Inc., Huntsville, AL, USA) was placed beneath the participant's feet and was used to measure jump height. A linear transducer (Tendo Weightlifting Analyzer, Tendo Sports Machines, Trencin, Slovak Republic) was used to measure average velocity (m/s) in accordance with the manufacturers' guidelines (Tendo Weightlifting Analyzer, Microcomputer User's Manual, Trencin, Slovak Republic). The unit cord was attached to the posterior aspect of a belt placed just below the participant's umbilicus with the linear transducer on the floor behind them, as previously described.¹⁸⁴ Participant's completed 3-4 total jumps separated by 30 seconds of rest and the greatest jump height (and associated velocity) of all three jumps was used for analysis.

Isometric Strength Testing

Upper-body peak force (PF) was determined from an upper-body strength assessment that was performed as an isometric upright row utilizing a calibrated load cell (TSD121C, Hand Dynamometer, Biopac Systems Inc., Goleta, CA, USA). The load cell was attached to a flat metal platform (on which the participants stood on) and an adjustable chain which connected to a

metal bar. Participants grasped the bar with a pronated grip, hands in line with their shoulders, their shoulders abducted, and elbows flexed. The chain was adjusted to one chain link below the level of the umbilicus. Following three submaximal warm-up contractions (50% - 75% of perceived maximum effort), participants performed three isometric maximal voluntary contractions (MVCs) with a two-minute recovery period in between each muscle contraction. Participants were instructed to pull the bar submaximally to remove the slack in the chain immediately prior to the start of the MVC, as determined with visual feedback of force production. During the three MVCs, participants were given a consistent, strong, verbal encouragement to pull as hard and as fast as possible during each contraction of 3-4s. If the participant utilized a countermovement or did not explosively produce force during the MVC, an additional MVC was performed.

Lower body peak and rapid force variables were examined with a custom-built, calibrated, isometric dynamometer during an isometric maximal voluntary contraction. Participants were seated in the dynamometer chair with their right knee fixed at 60-degrees below full extension^{185,186} as verified with a goniometer. The load cell (Model 41, Honeywell Inc., Columbus, OH, USA) was positioned approximately two centimeters above the lateral malleolus. A strap was placed across the participant's waist and their left leg to prevent extraneous movements during leg extension. They were also instructed to place their arms across their chest during testing. All of the chair adjustments were recorded and replicated for each testing session. Following three submaximal warm-up contractions (50% - 75% of perceived maximum effort), participants performed three MVCs with a two-minute recovery period in between contractions. Participants were instructed to kick their right leg out as hard and as fast as possible against a stationary padded lever arm for 3-4 seconds to produce maximal

force. If the participants did not remain relaxed (i.e. performed a countermovement) before the MVC or did not explosively produce force during the MVC, an additional MVC was performed.

All MVCs were visually inspected for any countermovement and pretension as described by Gerstner et al.¹⁸⁷ There was a noticeable countermovement or pretension for 11 MVCs (PRE: 2 participants; P24: 2 participants; P48: 3 participants; P72: 4 participants). The mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of the baseline slope (200ms prior to contraction onset) for these excluded MVCs were -14.44 \pm 11.41 N·s⁻¹. The baseline slopes for all remaining values were -0.72 \pm 2.88 N·s⁻¹. The MVC with the highest peak force value was used for all subsequent analyses.

Surface Electromyography

A bipolar, pre-amplified, surface electromyographic (EMG) electrode (TSD150B, Biopac Systems Inc., Goleta, CA, USA; gain = 350 and interelectrode distance of 20 mm) was placed on the VL in accordance with recommendations from the Surface EMG for the Non-Invasive Assessment of Muscles (SENIAM) project.¹⁸⁸ Specifically, the electrode was placed two-thirds the distance from the anterior superior iliac spine to the superior aspect of the lateral patella on the right leg. Additionally, a reference electrode was placed on the tibial tuberosity. Prior to placing the EMG and reference electrodes, the skin was shaved, lightly abraded, and cleansed with rubbing alcohol.

Signal Processing

The force and EMG signals were sampled at 2 kHz with a Biopac data acquisition system (MP150WSW, Biopac Systems Inc., Goleta, CA, USA) and stored on a personal computer (ThinkPad T420; Lenovo, Morrisville, NC). Custom-written software (LabView 17; National Instruments, Austin, TX) was used to process all of the signals offline. The force signals were filtered using a fourth order, zero phase shift low pass Butterworth filter with a 150 Hz cutoff

frequency. The EMG signals were filtered using a fourth order, zero phase shift bandpass filter (10 - 500 Hz).

Force and EMG onsets were manually determined by the same investigator using previously established guidelines.¹⁸⁷ The last trough/peak before signal deflection from baseline was manually selected as the force or EMG signal onset. Isometric PF was determined as the highest 500ms epoch during the 3- to 4-s MVC for UB and LB PF. Absolute rapid force variables for the LB were calculated from the force-time curve at 50 (F₅₀), 100 (F₁₀₀), 150 (F₁₅₀), and 200ms (F₂₀₀) from onset. The EMG signal was simultaneously analyzed during the same time epoch as used to determine PF, using the root mean squared (RMS) calculation. The EMG amplitude calculated during the PF epoch (EMG_{MVC}) during each post-testing visit was then normalized to the pre-testing values. In addition, similar to previous work,¹⁸⁷ EMG amplitude variables were quantified at 0-100 (EMG₀₋₁₀₀) and 100-200ms (EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀) following contraction onset, to represent early and late muscle activation timepoints, and were subsequently normalized to the RMS obtained during PF on each respective day.

Resistance Exercise (Visit Two)

The resistance exercise bout occurred on the same day as pre-testing, following all pretesting data collection. Participants first completed a brief warm-up set using 40% of their predicted 1RM, which was also used to reinforce proper lifting form. Each firefighter then performed three sets of 8 – 10 repetitions at 80% of their predicted 1RM of the deadlift, shoulder press, lunge, and upright row exercises. The load was selected as 80% 1RM because this has been shown to induce muscular hypertrophy and strength adaptations¹⁸⁹ and is recommended by the American College of Sports Medicine for untrained populations.¹⁹⁰ This load and repetition range has also been previously shown to induce muscle damage.^{175,177} These exercises were
selected because they are multi-joint movements that engage major muscle groups and can be performed with minimal equipment. The exercises were performed in a circuit style using an adjustable dumbbell set (same as testing) and there was one minute of rest between exercises and two minutes of rest between sets. If participants completed more or less than 8-10 repetitions the loads were increased or decreased by 10%. An experienced member of the research team was present at all times to ensure safe execution of the lifts. Total training volume (load x repetitions) was calculated for each participant to assess any training volume differences between groups.

Heart Rate and Rating of Perceived Exertion

Heart rate (HR) was recorded prior to and during the resistance training session using a Polar HR monitor (H10, Polar Electro Oy, Finland) which was worn around the participant's chest. The participant's resting HR was recorded during the ultrasound assessments in the supine position. Heart rate was also recorded at the completion of the warm-up and immediately after each of the three exercise sets. Each participant's working intensity was calculated as the percentage of heart rate reserve (%HRR = ((HR_{exercise} – HR_{rest})/(HR_{max} – HR_{rest})) at the end of each set. The participant's rating of perceived exertion (RPE) was assessed with the OMNI resistance training RPE scale.¹⁹¹ The participants' RPE was recorded at the same time as HR at the completion of the warm-up and after each of the three exercise sets.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive data were summarized using mean ± standard deviation (SD). An independent T-test was employed to examine baseline group differences in age, stature, body mass, BMI, SFT of the VL and BB, and total training volume. A linear mixed model was

employed to examine the mean change in RPE and %HRR during the training session. The same model was used to examine changes in reported WRF over time for both groups.

A linear mixed model, with fixed effects for group (young v. older) and time (PRE v. P24 v. P48 v. P72), while covarying for WRF, was employed to examine the mean and longitudinal changes in maximal strength (PF). The interaction was tested first; if non-significant, a reduced model was used without the interaction. Contrasts were then used to test for differences between time and/or group and only if overall contrasts were significant, pairwise comparisons were completed. The same methods were used to compare groups' self-reported soreness for the upper- and lower-body (VAS), CMJ height and velocity, CSA and EI of the VL, MT and EI of the BB, rapid forces of the lower body (F_{50} , F_{100} , F_{150} , and F_{200}) and EMG amplitude (EMG₀₋₁₀₀, EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀, EMG_{MVC}). The subjects were chosen as the random effect within the linear mixed model because of expected variation and this was significant for all analyses (P<0.001). Outliers were defined as values being at least three times greater than the interquartile range and were removed from analyses. All analyses were performed with SAS (Version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) with an alpha level set a priori at $P \leq 0.05$.

CHAPTER IV: MANUSCRIPT

Introduction

Firefighters provide critical emergency services to communities across the country, despite experiencing one of the highest rates of occupational injuries.^{1,2} The National Fire Protection Association reported that there were 58,835 injuries among firefighters in 2017.¹⁹² The primary non-fatal injuries that are commonly reported include strains and sprains^{1,2,192} to the extremities and back⁴ and are often attributed to acute overexertion and slips, trips, and falls.¹⁹² These injuries result in above average worker's compensation claims,⁵ extended worker absence rates,^{1,6} and are the leading cause of early retirement in firefighters.⁷

Exercise has been consistently listed as the primary approach to reducing injuries in the fire service.^{8,9} However, more than 75% of firefighters fail to achieve the minimum physical activity recommendations from the American College of Sports Medicine.¹⁰ The workplace (e.g. fire station) may provide an optimal setting to improve the exercise habits of firefighters. For example, worksite exercise programs may offer unique advantages to the employee that include convenience (i.e. less travel, ease of access to equipment), lower associated-costs, and improved camaraderie among co-workers who train together.¹¹ Previous studies have shown that worksite exercise can improve working physical capacity, musculoskeletal (MSK) pain, and reduce the incidence of injury in a number of occupations.^{6,12,13} It is well documented that resistance training improves muscle strength, power, and endurance,¹⁴⁻¹⁶ which are critical to the safe execution of essential firefighter tasks.^{13,17-19} Furthermore, resistance training has been shown to

target risk factors associated with the primary non-fatal injuries reported among firefighters.^{20,21} These data may demonstrate that worksite resistance exercise can be an important tool to reduce injuries and improve performance in the fire service.

Nearly all United States firefighters are between the ages of 20 – 59 years.²² Given the large age range of firefighters, it is important to determine if aging influences their recovery from a worksite resistance exercise routine. Previous studies have indicated that age may influence the adaptations following chronic resistance training,^{23,24} and it is possible that these alterations may be mediated by a prolonged recovery response.^{25,26} Furthermore, an altered recovery response in older firefighters may have unintended consequences that include increases in the risk of strain and sprain injuries and impaired subsequent job performance when performed onshift. These studies may suggest that future research is needed to examine the influence of aging on the recovery following worksite resistance training to inform future worksite exercise prescription among firefighters. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to examine the influence of age on the recovery from a feasible, worksite resistance exercise in firefighters that includes minimal free weight equipment.

<u>Methods</u>

Participants

Twenty young and 21 older active-duty male career firefighters volunteered to take part in this study. Demographic data are displayed in Table 1. Three participants withdrew from the study due to experiencing low back musculoskeletal pain following testing (2 older firefighters) or a lack of follow-up contact following testing (1 younger firefighter), therefore, 38 participants completed all testing visits (19 young and 19 older firefighters). The firefighters were solicited from local departments near the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. All participants

provided written and dated informed consent (IRB# 18-0025) to participate in the research study. Additionally, the participants agreed to abstain from vigorous exercise (48 hours) or any exercise (24 hours) prior to all testing visits as well as abstain from any recovery strategies (i.e. massage, ice baths, ibuprofen, etc.) for the duration of the study. Participants also abstained from food and drinks (except water) four hours prior to their first visit and abstained from caffeine, tobacco, and alcohol (8 hours) prior to all testing visits. None of the participants reported any neuromuscular, cardiovascular, or metabolic disease (i.e., diabetes); had a current or recent (within the past three months) musculoskeletal injury of the upper- or lower-body and/or lower back that would not allow them to complete the testing; were involved in an active workers' compensation or personal injury case; currently performed more than three sessions per week of resistance training (on average) over the last three months. The average reported hours of resistance training per week for all participants was 2.00 ± 2.15 hours/wk.

Experimental Design

The experimental design is depicted in Figure 1. The participants completed five days of testing at local fire stations that included; a familiarization (visit one), pre-testing and an acute resistance exercise bout (visit two), and post-testing at 24, 48, and 72 hours following the bout of resistance exercise (visits 3-5). All visits were completed in the morning around the same time of day (\pm 2 hrs).

Familiarization (Visit One)

Each firefighter reported for visit one immediately after a shift, at least four days (mean \pm SD: 7.53 \pm 3.19 days) prior to visit two. All participants read and signed an informed consent document stating the experimental protocol with the potential risks and benefits associated with participation in the study, as well as a health history questionnaire. Participants first had their

height and weight measured and their body mass index (BMI) calculated. Height (HT) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm with a calibrated stadiometer. Body mass (BM) was measured to the nearest 0.01 kg using a calibrated clinical scale (Seca 769, Hamburg, Germany). Body mass index was calculated using the equation BMI=BM (kg)/HT² (m²). Participants were then familiarized with ultrasonography (US) imaging, a countermovement vertical jump (CMJ) assessment, isometric strength assessments, and the resistance training exercises. To prescribe the appropriate loads for the resistance exercise bout, each firefighter performed a multirepetition maximum assessment for each exercise (deadlift, shoulder press, lunge, and upright row) similar to procedures described by the National Strength and Conditioning Association.¹⁷⁸ Participants were initially instructed how to complete each exercise safely using proper form. The deadlift was completed using a kettlebell handle (KettleClamp, In The Box RX, LLC) and a commercially available plate-loaded dumbbell (ODH-20, Ader Sporting Goods, Dallas, TX, USA). The shoulder press and lunges were completed using adjustable dumbbells (PowerBlock Inc., Owatonna, MN, USA) and the upright row was completed using a single adjustable dumbbell with a kettlebell handle (PowerBlock Inc., Owatonna, MN, USA). They performed a weighted warm-up for each exercise, with progressively heavier loads, for sets of 8-10 and 4-6 repetitions with one minute of rest between sets. After completing the warm-up sets, participants were given two minutes of rest. An estimated weight that the participant could lift for six repetitions was then selected for the participant to perform one set of as many repetitions as possible to failure. Using the weight and number of repetitions the participant completed, the participant's one repetition maximum (1RM) was estimated using the following modified equation:179

$$1RM = \frac{Repetition Weight}{0.522 + 0.419e^{(-0.055xRTF)}}$$

The repetition weight is the load (kg) used for each exercise and RTF is the number of repetitions completed to failure. This calculation was used to estimate the 1RM for each exercise.

Testing (Visits 2-5)

Visit two (PRE) occurred following a participant's shift. Visits 3-5 occurred 24, 48, and 72 hours (P24, P48, P72, respectively) after visit two as participants were coming on- or offshift. All testing included a comprehensive neuromuscular assessment commonly used to examine recovery from exercise.⁷⁸ Each testing visit included 1) a questionnaire to assess the participant's current level of fatigue, 2) a visual analog scale (VAS) to determine subjective perceived muscle soreness, 3) ultrasonography to determine the size and echogenicity of the vastus lateralis (VL) and biceps brachii (BB), 4) a CMJ test to measure jump height and average velocity, 5) an upper-body (UB) maximum isometric strength assessment, and 6) a lower-body (LB) maximum and rapid isometric strength assessment using a calibrated custom isometric dynamometer with pre-amplified electromyographic (EMG) electrodes placed over the VL to examine muscle activation.

Fatigue Scale

To account for the unanticipated changes in work schedules, variability in occupational demands, and/or volume of calls that firefighters may experience on shift, a work-related fatigue (WRF) questionnaire¹⁸⁰ was used to determine WRF prior to testing during visits 2-5. The questionnaire asked participants: 'How tired are you right now as a result of your previous workday in: 1) your body in general; 2) your back; 3) your neck/shoulders; 4) your arms/wrists; and 5) your lower limbs?'. Participants were instructed to circle one answer for each of the five questions. The answer options included: 1) Not tired; 2) A little tired; 3) Somewhat tired; 4)

Very tired; or 5) Completely exhausted. As described previously,¹⁸⁰ an average WRF score from all five questions was calculated for each participant on each visit and used in the analyses. <u>Visual Analog Scale</u>

A separate VAS was used to determine the participant's perceived muscle soreness for their lower- and upper-body during visits 2-5. The scale ranged from 0 (no discomfort at all) to 100 (worst imaginable pain) and asked the participants to rate their muscle soreness by placing a vertical mark on the line given.

Ultrasonography

A B-mode US (Logiq-e, General Electric Company, Milwaukee, WI, USA) with a multifrequency linear-array probe (12L-RS; 5-13 MHz; 38.4 mm FOV, General Electric Company, Milwaukee, WI, USA) was used to determine muscle size (cross-sectional area; CSA) and muscle quality (echo-intensity; EI) of the VL and muscle thickness (MT) and EI of the BB. All imaging was performed on the right limbs and the settings for all scans were held constant at: gain (56 dB), depth (6 cm), frequency (10.0 MHz). Muscle size and EI of the VL were determined from a transverse panoramic scan of the thigh, as described previously.¹⁸¹ Prior to the VL imaging, the participants were positioned supine with the right leg relaxed and supported at 50 degrees of flexion, which was verified using a goniometer (Model G300, Whitehall Manufacturing, City of Industry, CA, USA). A piece of foam padding was strapped to the participant's leg in line with the transverse plane at mid-thigh (approximately halfway between the greater trochanter and lateral femoral epicondyle) so that the probe slid along the skin surface in a straight line perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the thigh. The probe was moved from the medial to lateral portion of the muscle at a consistent speed using non-allergenic ultrasound gel (Aquasonic 100, Parker Laboratories Inc, Fairfield, NJ, USA) to improve acoustic coupling.

Muscle thickness of the BB was determined from a transverse scan at approximately 66% of the distance from the acromion of the scapula to the fossa cubit, as described previously.¹⁸² During the scan, participants were positioned with their arm extended, abducted, relaxed, and supported on a table. All US scans were completed by the same researcher.

All US imaging analyses were performed by the same investigator using ImageJ software (National Institute of Health, MD, USA, Version 1.37). The straight-line function was used to convert each image from pixels to centimeters. To determine CSA, the same technician used the polygon function to trace the outline of the VL for each participant's scan along the fascia border as close as possible to capture only the muscle. This traced region was then analyzed within ImageJ to determine CSA (cm²). The same ImageJ software was also used to determine muscle thickness of the BB using the straight-line function to measure the distance (cm) from the deep to superficial border of the BB at the mid-point of the muscle. The rectangle function was used to measure the largest possible internal area of the BB, without including any surrounding fascia, which was then used for analysis of EI. Echo-intensity was determined for the VL and BB with a standard mean gray scale analysis, ranging from 0 - 255 units (black = 0, white = 255). Subcutaneous fat thickness (SFT) was measured by using the straight-line function to measure the depth of the subcutaneous fat layer from the average of the mid-point, medial, and lateral borders of the muscle for the VL¹⁸³ and from the mid-point of the BB.¹⁸²

Countermovement Vertical Jump

For the CMJ, participants were positioned with feet shoulder-width apart and were instructed to jump vertically, as high as possible, and return to the same position with both feet landing at the same time. A jump mat (Just Jump or Run, Probotics, Inc., Huntsville, AL, USA) was placed beneath the participant's feet and was used to measure jump height. A linear

transducer (Tendo Weightlifting Analyzer, Tendo Sports Machines, Trencin, Slovak Republic) was used to measure average velocity (m/s) in accordance with the manufacturers' guidelines (Tendo Weightlifting Analyzer, Microcomputer User's Manual, Trencin, Slovak Republic). The unit cord was attached to the posterior aspect of a belt placed just below the participant's umbilicus with the linear transducer on the floor behind them, as previously described.¹⁸⁴ Participant's completed 3-4 total jumps separated by 30 seconds of rest and the greatest jump height (and associated velocity) of all three jumps was used for analysis.

Isometric Strength Testing

Upper-body peak force (PF) was determined from an upper-body strength assessment that was performed as an isometric upright row utilizing a calibrated load cell (TSD121C, Hand Dynamometer, Biopac Systems Inc., Goleta, CA, USA). The load cell was attached to a flat metal platform (on which the participants stood on) and an adjustable chain which connected to a metal bar. Participants grasped the bar with a pronated grip, hands in line with their shoulders, their shoulders abducted, and elbows flexed. The chain was adjusted to one chain link below the level of the umbilicus. Following three submaximal warm-up contractions (50% - 75% of perceived maximum effort), participants performed three isometric maximal voluntary contractions (MVCs) with a two-minute recovery period in between each muscle contraction. Participants were instructed to pull the bar submaximally to remove the slack in the chain immediately prior to the start of the MVC, as determined with visual feedback of force production. During the three MVCs, participants were given a consistent, strong, verbal encouragement to pull as hard and as fast as possible during each contraction of 3-4s. If the participant utilized a countermovement or did not explosively produce force during the MVC, an additional MVC was performed.

Lower body peak and rapid force variables were examined with a custom-built, calibrated, isometric dynamometer during an isometric maximal voluntary contraction. Participants were seated in the dynamometer chair with their right knee fixed at 60-degrees below full extension^{185,186} as verified with a goniometer. The load cell (Model 41, Honeywell Inc., Columbus, OH, USA) was positioned approximately two centimeters above the lateral malleolus. A strap was placed across the participant's waist and their left leg to prevent extraneous movements during leg extension. They were also instructed to place their arms across their chest during testing. All of the chair adjustments were recorded and replicated for each testing session. Following three submaximal warm-up contractions (50% - 75% of perceived maximum effort), participants performed three MVCs with a two-minute recovery period in between contractions. Participants were instructed to kick their right leg out as hard and as fast as possible against a stationary padded lever arm for 3-4 seconds to produce maximal force. If the participants did not remain relaxed (i.e. performed a countermovement) before the MVC or did not explosively produce force during the MVC, an additional MVC was performed.

All MVCs were visually inspected for any countermovement and pretension as described by Gerstner et al.¹⁸⁷ There was a noticeable countermovement or pretension for 11 MVCs (PRE: 2 participants; P24: 2 participants; P48: 3 participants; P72: 4 participants). The mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of the baseline slope (200ms prior to contraction onset) for these excluded MVCs were -14.44 \pm 11.41 N·s⁻¹. The baseline slopes for all remaining values were -0.72 \pm 2.88 N·s⁻¹. The MVC with the highest peak force value was used for all subsequent analyses.

Surface Electromyography

A bipolar, pre-amplified, surface electromyographic (EMG) electrode (TSD150B,

Biopac Systems Inc., Goleta, CA, USA; gain = 350 and interelectrode distance of 20 mm) was placed on the VL in accordance with recommendations from the Surface EMG for the Non-Invasive Assessment of Muscles (SENIAM) project.¹⁸⁸ Specifically, the electrode was placed two-thirds the distance from the anterior superior iliac spine to the superior aspect of the lateral patella on the right leg. Additionally, a reference electrode was placed on the tibial tuberosity. Prior to placing the EMG and reference electrodes, the skin was shaved, lightly abraded, and cleansed with rubbing alcohol.

Signal Processing

The force and EMG signals were sampled at 2 kHz with a Biopac data acquisition system (MP150WSW, Biopac Systems Inc., Goleta, CA, USA) and stored on a personal computer (ThinkPad T420; Lenovo, Morrisville, NC). Custom-written software (LabView 17; National Instruments, Austin, TX) was used to process all of the signals offline. The force signals were filtered using a fourth order, zero phase shift low pass Butterworth filter with a 150 Hz cutoff frequency. The EMG signals were filtered using a fourth order, zero phase shift low pass Butterworth received phase shift bandpass filter (10 - 500 Hz).

Force and EMG onsets were manually determined by the same investigator using previously established guidelines.¹⁸⁷ The last trough/peak before signal deflection from baseline was manually selected as the force or EMG signal onset. Isometric PF was determined as the highest 500ms epoch during the 3- to 4-s MVC for UB and LB PF. Absolute rapid force variables for the LB were calculated from the force-time curve at 50 (F_{50}), 100 (F_{100}), 150 (F_{150}), and 200ms (F_{200}) from onset. The EMG signal was simultaneously analyzed during the same time epoch as used to determine PF, using the root mean squared (RMS) calculation. The EMG amplitude calculated during the PF epoch (EMG_{MVC}) during each post-testing visit was then

normalized to the pre-testing values. In addition, similar to previous work,¹⁸⁷ EMG amplitude variables were quantified at 0-100 (EMG_{0-100}) and 100-200ms ($EMG_{100-200}$) following contraction onset, to represent early and late muscle activation timepoints, and were subsequently normalized to the RMS obtained during PF on each respective day.

Resistance Exercise (Visit Two)

The resistance exercise bout occurred on the same day as pre-testing, following all pretesting data collection. Participants first completed a brief warm-up set using 40% of their predicted 1RM, which was also used to reinforce proper lifting form. Each firefighter then performed three sets of 8 – 10 repetitions at 80% of their predicted 1RM of the deadlift, shoulder press, lunge, and upright row exercises. The load was selected as 80% 1RM because this has been shown to induce muscular hypertrophy and strength adaptations¹⁸⁹ and is recommended by the American College of Sports Medicine for untrained populations.¹⁹⁰ This load and repetition range has also been previously shown to induce muscle damage.^{175,177} These exercises were selected because they are multi-joint movements that engage major muscle groups and can be performed with minimal equipment. The exercises were performed in a circuit style using an adjustable dumbbell set (same as testing) and there was one minute of rest between exercises and two minutes of rest between sets. If participants completed more or less than 8-10 repetitions the loads were increased or decreased by 10%. An experienced member of the research team was present at all times to ensure safe execution of the lifts. Total training volume (load x repetitions) was calculated for each participant to assess any training volume differences between groups.

Heart Rate and Rating of Perceived Exertion

Heart rate (HR) was recorded prior to and during the resistance training session using a Polar HR monitor (H10, Polar Electro Oy, Finland) which was worn around the participant's chest. The participant's resting HR was recorded during the ultrasound assessments in the supine position. Heart rate was also recorded at the completion of the warm-up and immediately after each of the three exercise sets. Each participant's working intensity was calculated as the percentage of heart rate reserve (%HRR = ((HR_{exercise} – HR_{rest})/(HR_{max} – HR_{rest})) at the end of each set. The participant's rating of perceived exertion (RPE) was assessed with the OMNI resistance training RPE scale.¹⁹¹ The participants' RPE was recorded at the same time as HR at the completion of the warm-up and after each of the three exercise sets.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive data were summarized using mean ± standard deviation (SD). An independent T-test was employed to examine baseline group differences in age, stature, body mass, BMI, SFT of the VL and BB, and total training volume. A linear mixed model was employed to examine the mean change in RPE and %HRR during the training session. The same model was used to examine changes in reported WRF over time for both groups.

A linear mixed model, with fixed effects for group (young v. older) and time (PRE v. P24 v. P48 v. P72), while covarying for WRF, was employed to examine the mean and longitudinal changes in maximal strength (PF). The interaction was tested first; if non-significant, a reduced model was used without the interaction. Contrasts were then used to test for differences between time and/or group and only if overall contrasts were significant, pairwise comparisons were completed. The same methods were used to compare groups' self-reported soreness for the upper- and lower-body (VAS), CMJ height and velocity, CSA and EI of the VL, MT and EI of

the BB, rapid forces of the lower body (F₅₀, F₁₀₀, F₁₅₀, and F₂₀₀) and EMG amplitude (EMG₀₋₁₀₀, EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀, EMG_{MVC}). The subjects were chosen as the random effect within the linear mixed model because of expected variation and this was significant for all analyses (P<0.001). Outliers were defined as values being at least three times greater than the interquartile range and were removed from analyses. All analyses were performed with SAS (Version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) with an alpha level set a priori at $P \le 0.05$.

<u>Results</u>

Demographics

All demographic data are presented in Table 1. There was a significant difference in age (P<0.001) and stature (P=0.033), but not body mass (P=0.885), BMI (P=0.104), or VL and BB SFT (P≥0.303) between the young and the older firefighters.

WRF

The raw means for all dependent variables are presented in Table 2. For WRF, there was a significant group × time interaction (P=0.002, Figure 2). The older firefighters reported greater and less ($P \le 0.041$) WRF at PRE and P48, respectively, when compared to the young firefighters. There were no differences in WRF between groups at P24 (P=0.121) or P72 (P>0.999). For the young, WRF at P24 and P48 was greater than both PRE and P72 (P<0.001). For the older firefighters, WRF at P72 was less than PRE and P24 ($P \le 0.008$), and P48 was less than P24 (P=0.033).

VAS

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.251) or main effect for group (P=0.268) for upper-body VAS values. However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.001, Figure 3). When collapsed across groups, upper-body VAS values

increased from PRE to P24 and P48 (P<0.001), but not at P72 (P=0.142). Upper-body VAS values at P24 and P48 were also greater than P72 values (P≤0.025).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.991) or main effect for group (P=0.545) for lower-body VAS values. However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.001, Figure 4). When collapsed across groups, lower-body VAS values increased from PRE to P24 and P48 (P<0.001), but not at P72 (P=0.400). Lower-body VAS values at P24 and P48 were also greater than P72 values (P<0.001).

US

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.277) or main effect for group (P=0.313) for VL CSA. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.006, Figure 5). When collapsed across groups, VL CSA increased from PRE to P24, P48, and P72 ($P\leq0.036$).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.586) or main effect for time (P=0.711) for VL EI. However, there was a main effect for group (P=0.006, Figure 6) with older firefighters having a greater VL EI when compared to young firefighters.

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.470) or main effect for group (P=0.473) for BB MT. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.002, Figure 7). When collapsed across groups, BB MT increased from PRE to P24, P48, and P72 (P≤0.041).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.171) or main effect for time (P=0.169), however the main effect for group approached significance

(*P*=0.069) for BB EI with the older firefighters having greater EI values when compared to the young firefighters.

<u>CMJ</u>

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.910) for CMJ height. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.022, Figure 8A) and a main effect for group (P<0.001, Figure 8B). When collapsed across groups, CMJ height decreased from PRE to P24 (P=0.006), but not at P48 or P72 (P≥0.092). Countermovement jump height then increased from P24 to P48 (P=0.019). When collapsed across time, CMJ height was greater in the young compared to the older firefighters.

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.945) for CMJ velocity. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.005, Figure 9A) and a main effect for group (P=0.020, Figure 9B). When collapsed across groups, CMJ velocity decreased from PRE to P24 (P=0.007), but not at P48 or P72 ($P\geq0.416$). Countermovement jump velocity then increased from P24 to P48 and P72 ($P\leq0.003$). When collapsed across time, CMJ velocity was greater for young when compared to the older firefighters.

Isometric Strength

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.384) or main effect for group (P=0.138) for UB PF. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.027, Figure 10). When collapsed across groups, UB PF decreased from PRE to P24 and P48 (P≤0.035), but not at P72 (P=0.132).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group \times time interaction (*P*=0.185) or main effect for time (*P*=0.279) for LB PF. However, there was a main effect for group

(*P*=0.004, Figure 11) with young firefighters having greater LB PF when compared to the older firefighters.

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.970), main effect for time (P=0.420), or main effect for group (P=0.849) for F₅₀.

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.579) or main effect for group (P=0.435) for F₁₀₀. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.002, Figure 12). When collapsed across groups, F₁₀₀ decreased from PRE to P24, P48, and P72 ($P\leq0.044$).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.685) or main effect for group (P=0.137) for F₁₅₀. However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.001, Figure 13). When collapsed across groups, F₁₅₀ decreased from PRE to P24, P48, and P72 (P≤0.011).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.615) for F₂₀₀. However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.001, Figure 14A) and group (P=0.047, Figure 14B). When collapsed across groups, F₂₀₀ decreased from PRE to P24, P48, and P72 (P≤0.006). Furthermore, when collapsed across time, F₂₀₀ was greater for the young when compared to older firefighters.

EMG

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.216), main effect for group (P=0.637), or main effect for time (P=0.230) for EMG_{MVC}.

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.590) or main effect for group (P=0.895) for EMG₀₋₁₀₀. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.021, Figure 15). When collapsed across groups, EMG₀₋₁₀₀ decreased from PRE to P72

(P=0.002). In addition, P24 and P48 time points were lower than PRE and approached significance (P≤0.075).

When controlling for WRF, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.812) or main effect for group (P=0.638) for EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀. However, there was a main effect for time (P=0.014, Figure 16). When collapsed across groups, EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀ decreased from PRE to P48 and P72 (P≤0.008), but not P24 (P=0.282).

Training

There was no significant difference (P=0.256) between young and older firefighters in total training volume during the resistance training session (4371.58 ± 908.10 kg and 4000.57 ± 1067.37 kg, respectively). Rating of perceived exertion (RPE) and %HRR data are presented in Table 3.

For RPE, there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.937) or main effect for group (P=0.214). However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.001, Figure 17). When collapsed across groups, RPE increased across all time point comparisons (WU < Set 1< Set 2 < Set 3, P<0.001).

For %HRR there was no significant group × time interaction (P=0.899). However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.001, Figure 18A) and group (P=0.023, Figure 18B). When collapsed across time, the young firefighters trained at a greater %HRR when compared to older firefighters. When collapsed across groups, %HRR increased over time (WU < Set 1 < Set 2 and Set 3, P<0.001), but the increase only approached significance from Set 2 to Set 3 (P=0.058).

Discussion

The primary findings of the present study indicated that, when accounting for WRF differences between groups, the young and older firefighters demonstrated a similar recovery

following a bout of worksite resistance exercise, as none of the indirect markers of muscle damage revealed an interaction effect. It is important to note that resistance training volume and perceived exertion were similar between groups, whereas %HRR was slightly higher in the young firefighters (Table 3). The similar recovery between groups is supported by Gordon et al.¹⁷⁴ who found no differences in the recovery response of young (21.8±2.0 yrs) and older (47.0±4.4 yrs) recreationally active adults of similar ages as in the current study, following a high-volume isokinetic resistance training session. In addition, McLester et al.¹⁷⁵ utilized a traditional resistance training session to examine recovery responses in young (22.6±4.6 yrs) and older men (56.4±5.0 yrs) and found that both groups exhibited similar recovery responses up to 48 hours after exercise. However, at 72 and 96 hours post-exercise, the older group-maintained baseline performance while the younger group began to exceed baseline performance. Furthermore, Lavender et al.¹⁷⁶ compared the recovery responses in young (19.4±0.4 yrs) and older (48.0±2.1 yrs) men after eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors and found that no significant differences existed between the groups' recovery for maximal isometric strength, arm circumference, or range of motion.

The results of the present study indicated that young firefighters exhibit greater lowerbody strength (PF and F₂₀₀) than older firefighters. This is not surprising considering that losses of muscle strength may begin as early as the second decade¹⁵¹ and similar findings that older men exhibit decreased lower-body strength are well-documented.^{174,187,193} However, the present study indicated no group differences in upper-body strength. This is supported by previous research examining firefighters^{194,195} and suggests that upper-body strength may be preserved with aging in this population. This may be due to the physical nature of their job which requires significant upper-body strength and endurance to perform daily tasks.^{18,39}

Within the present study, age-related differences were evident in CMJ height and velocity as young firefighters exhibited greater jump height and velocity than older firefighters. These results are supported by previous data in tactical populations indicating that the aging process negatively influences both of these performance measures.^{196,197} Specifically in firefighters, Perroni et al.¹⁹⁶ reported a 13% difference in CMJ height between young (<30 yrs) and older (>45 yrs) firefighters.

No age-related differences existed between groups in the present study for VL CSA or BB MT. However, older firefighters exhibited higher EI values of the VL and non-significantly higher EI values of the BB (*P*=0.069), indicating that older firefighters may have poorer muscle quality. This finding is supported by Gerstner et al.¹⁹³ who found no age-related differences in the CSA of the medial gastrocnemius, although the older men exhibited higher EI values. Similarly, Gordon et al.¹⁷⁴ found that young and older men exhibited similar CSA values for the VL but did not report EI values. These results may suggest that muscle size is maintained, however older muscles have a greater infiltration of non-contractile tissue (i.e. fat and fibrous tissues),^{183,193} which may be a contributor to the age-related differences that were found in lowerbody strength and CMJ performance.

In the present study, CMJ height and velocity decreased significantly at 24 hours and returned to baseline values by 48 hours post-exercise. Byrne et al.¹²⁶ found that CMJ height decreased significantly after 100 barbell squats and did not fully return to baseline values until four days post-exercise. In addition, lower body power output has been shown to decrease up to three days after an eccentric exercise session.¹³⁶ This difference in the recovery period observed in the present study is likely explained by the type of exercise that was utilized (i.e. eccentric v. traditional resistance training) and the total volume.

In the present study, there was no evidence of EIMD in lower-body PF. Similarly, Gordon et al.¹⁷⁴ found that high volume isokinetic exercise did not cause decrements in peak torque up to 48 hours post-exercise for young or older men. However, studies utilizing eccentric exercise found significant decreases in lower-body strength for 3-7 days post-exercise.^{136,137} Since it is well documented that eccentric exercise leads to greater EIMD^{77,82} it is also possible that the resistance training exercise bout utilized in the current study, as well as the high-volume isokinetic session utilized by Gordon et al.,¹⁷⁴ did not induce significant muscle damage in the lower-body. This is further supported by a lack of change in EMG_{MVC}. It has previously been shown that muscle activation may be depressed as a result of EIMD^{138,198} and thus may reflect the lack of change in lower-body PF.

Unlike lower-body PF, several lower-body rapid strength variables (F₁₀₀, F₁₅₀, and F₂₀₀) decreased across all time points. These rapid strength variables have been shown to be more sensitive to EIMD as evidenced by Peñailillo et al.¹⁹⁹ In addition, Crameri et al.²⁰⁰ found that the relative decrease in the rate of force development was greater than the relative decrease in peak torque after eccentric exercise. Furthermore, the present study also showed a continued decrease in early and late muscle activation of the VL up to 72 hours post-exercise. However, as previous studies have shown rapid strength is related to CMJ performance,^{16,201} we would expect these variables to respond similarly. The prolonged decrease in rapid force and the associated muscle activation variables, beyond the recovery of CMJ height and velocity, may suggest that the firefighters could have been impacted by accumulated fatigue over the course of their shift cycle. Although we attempted to account for physical fatigue using the WRF questionnaire, we did not quantify the mental/emotional fatigue that firefighters may experience over the course of their shift cycle that may reflect their overall workload. For example, previous studies have shown

rapid force production to decrease as a result of accumulated fatigue during shiftwork in other populations.^{202,203} Therefore, future studies should aim to quantify perceived workload in a more holistic manner using validated questionnaires (e.g. NASA-TLX) in order to examine its possible effects on firefighters' performance and recovery from exercise during a shift cycle.

In the present study, upper-body strength decreased significantly at 24 and 48 hours postexercise but returned to baseline by 72 hours. This follows previous research that shows upperbody strength decreases 24-48 hours after an unaccustomed bout of exercise,^{79,133,176} however these studies show much longer decreases after eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. It has also been suggested that the upper-body is more susceptible to EIMD than the lower-body as evidenced by larger and prolonged decreases in maximal strength,^{122,134} which may explain differences observed between UB and LB PF in the current study. This may also be a result of participants utilizing the upright row as an exercise during the resistance training session and assessment of upper-body strength. It is possible that since participants were being directly tested in the same manner that they were trained during the exercise bout, they exhibited greater decrements in this task.

Firefighters reported that lower- and upper-body soreness increased significantly at 24and 48-hours post-exercise. This aligns with previous research that suggests delay-onset muscle soreness (DOMS) peaks around 24-48 hours after eliciting muscle damage.^{112,121} This is supported by Gordon et al.¹⁷⁴ who found that reported soreness increased at 24 and 48 hours post-exercise in young and older men after high volume isokinetic resistance training. The majority of previous studies evaluate DOMS after eccentric-based exercise which is likely why symptoms are commonly reported to persist several days longer than what was observed in the present study utilizing resistance training.^{78,112,133}

In the present study, VL CSA and BB MT increased and remained significantly greater than baseline up to 72 hours post-exercise. These data suggest there may have been an inflammatory response, as evidenced by swelling, within the muscles as a result of the exercise bout and this is supported by previous research.^{79,204} For example, Sbricolli et al.²⁰⁴ showed that muscle thickness of the elbow flexors increased after eccentric exercise and the largest increases were experienced 2-4 days after eccentric exercise. In addition, Nosaka et al.⁷⁹ found increases in elbow flexor thickness 4-5 days after eccentric exercise. However, in the present study, there were no significant changes in EI over time which differs from previous studies^{79,110,122} that have shown increased EI typically accompanies increases in CSA as a result of EIMD. This may be a result of differences in the type of exercise (i.e. eccentric) and thus the extent of EIMD. However, Chen et al.¹²² found that EI increased as a result of eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage in the elbow flexors and extensors and the leg flexors, but not for leg extensors. They suggested that the leg extensors may be accustomed to eccentric contractions as a result of daily activities and are thus less susceptible to experiencing muscle damage than other muscle groups. However, because there were no changes in EI in the present study, changes in CSA and MT should be interpreted cautiously.

Practical Applications

In summary, the primary findings of the current investigation suggest that age did not influence the firefighters' recovery from an acute bout of on-site, circuit based, free weight resistance exercise. These findings may be impactful to fire departments, indicating that they can implement resistance training programs that are uniform to the broad age range within the fire service. It appears that firefighters experience the majority of performance and symptomatic decrements between 24 and 48 hours post-exercise after a bout of worksite resistance exercise,

however muscle swelling may persist up to 72 hours. In addition, rapid force production and muscle activation may be decreased up to 72 hours-post exercise, which may be further impacted by fatigue accumulated during the shift cycle. However, future studies are needed to test this hypothesis. Fire administrators should be cognizant of this when implementing a new training program.

CHAPTER V: SUMMARY

Worksite resistance exercise can be an important tool to reduce injuries and improve performance in the fire service. Given the large age range of firefighters, it is important to determine if aging influences their recovery from a worksite resistance exercise routine. The purpose of this study was to determine whether age influences the recovery from a feasible worksite resistance exercise routine. Nineteen young $(25.47 \pm 3.36 \text{ yrs})$ and 19 older firefighters $(50.32 \pm 3.53 \text{ yrs})$ completed five testing visits at their fire station as they were coming on- or off-shift. The first visit included a familiarization of the assessments and a multiple repetition maximum (RM) assessment to determine appropriate loads for their training session. The second visit included pre-testing and a circuit-style, resistance training session where they completed three sets of 8-10 repetitions of the deadlift, shoulder press, lunges, and upright row at 80% of their predicted 1RM. Visits 3-5 included post-testing at 24, 48, and 72 hours post-exercise (P24, P48, and P72, respectively). Prior to all testing on visits 2-5, firefighters completed a workrelated fatigue (WRF) questionnaire to account for potential differences in previous shiftwork over the past 24 hours. Recovery assessments included reported muscle soreness (VAS), ultrasonography to quantify muscle size and quality of the vastus lateralis (VL) and biceps brachii (BB), countermovement jump (CMJ) height and velocity, upper- and lower-body strength testing, and electromyography (EMG) of the vastus lateralis. All recovery variables were analyzed using a linear mixed model, controlling for WRF. Results revealed no (age × time) interactions for any variable and similar training volumes completed between groups ($P \ge 0.171$

and P=0.256, respectively). Group effects indicated that the young firefighters exhibited greater CMJ height and velocity, lower-body peak force, force at 200ms, and better muscle quality than the older firefighters for the VL ($P \le 0.047$). When collapsed across groups, upper- and lower-body VAS increased at P24 and P48, muscle size for the VL and BB increased across all time points, CMJ height and velocity decreased at P24, and upper-body force decreased at P24 and P48 ($P \le 0.041$). Also, lower-body rapid force (100, 150, and 200ms) and early and late muscle activation variables remained depressed at P72 ($P \le 0.044$). The unique responses of the rapid force variables and CMJ and UB strength may suggest a potential accumulation of fatigue due to the firefighters' shift cycle. These results suggest that age does not influence the recovery from an acute bout of worksite resistance exercise in firefighters.

Table 1: Demographics

Inclignets		
	Young Firefighters	Older Firefighters
Age (years)	25.45 ± 3.27	$50.57 \pm 3.79*$
Stature (cm)	181.00 ± 6.40	$176.49 \pm 6.65 *$
Body Mass (kg)	92.58 ± 18.26	93.30 ± 12.87
BMI (kg/m ²)	28.01 ± 5.51	30.66 ± 4.64
VL SFT (cm)	1.08 ± 0.39	0.99 ± 0.29
BB SFT (cm)	0.24 ± 0.15	0.29 ± 0.15

Mean \pm standard deviation (SD) values for demographics in younger and older firefighters

BMI body mass index, VL vastus lateralis, SFT subcutaneous fat thickness, BB biceps brachii, * P < 0.05, significant age group difference Note: (Young: n=20, Older: n=21), SFT (n=19 per group)

Table 2: Unadjusted raw means for the dependent variables

	Age group	PRE	P24	P48	P72
WRF (AU)	Y	1.52 ± 0.41	2.31 ± 0.74	2.06 ± 0.57	1.52 ± 0.37
	0	1.94 ± 0.69	2.01 ± 0.68	1.67 ± 0.56	1.52 ± 0.52
Upper-body VAS (AU)	Y	10.37 ± 10.93	33.63 ± 20.75	30.47 ± 18.64	11.68 ± 10.71
	0	14.42 ± 18.05	24.40 ± 19.53	16.32 ± 14.33	12.84 ± 16.22
Lower-body VAS (AU)	Y	10.22 ± 10.46	40.95 ± 26.06	34.63 ± 22.54	12.68 ± 13.18
	0	16.26 ± 18.33	33.53 ± 22.32	25.63 ± 24.27	9.79 ± 13.28
CMJ Height (cm)	Y	43.51 ± 6.15	42.21 ± 6.30	43.36 ± 6.22	42.88 ± 6.02
	0	34.75 ± 6.35	32.74 ± 6.96	34.37 ± 5.97	34.09 ± 6.53
CMJ Velocity (m/s)	Y	1.30 ± 0.13	1.26 ± 0.19	1.29 ± 0.17	1.31 ± 0.16
	0	1.17 ± 0.18	1.13 ± 0.20	1.18 ± 0.18	1.19 ± 0.18
VL CSA (cm ²)	Y	32.12 ± 7.22	$32.20\pm\!\!7.20$	32.54 ± 7.62	32.28 ± 7.08
	0	28.68 ± 4.62	30.19 ± 5.85	29.79 ± 4.80	30.50 ± 5.91
VL EI (AU)	Y	57.35 ± 4.20	56.80 ± 5.23	57.77 ± 4.87	56.80 ± 4.76
	0	61.81 ± 7.72	62.52 ± 6.96	62.40 ± 6.92	62.01 ± 6.06
BB MT (cm)	Y	2.83 ± 0.45	2.91 ± 0.43	2.92 ± 0.44	2.88 ± 0.43
	0	2.75 ± 0.42	2.77 ± 0.40	2.84 ± 0.38	2.79 ± 0.42
BB EI (AU)	Y	73.60 ± 5.98	72.18 ± 7.41	71.13 ± 9.19	72.09 ± 8.07
	0	74.81 ± 7.77	72.90 ± 5.71	74.53 ± 6.31	78.54 ± 6.72
Upper-body PF (N)	Y	879.23 ± 100.38	841.55 ± 103.89	848.52 ± 96.03	848.70 ± 114.34
	0	812.46 ± 107.91	785.77 ± 122.83	801.40 ± 123.33	814.28 ± 123.71
Lower-body PF (N)	Y	745.51 ± 221.67	706.27 ± 181.10	697.82 ± 172.54	741.42 ± 214.51
	0	589.71 ± 115.33	564.75 ± 138.23	582.28 ± 146.38	554.90 ± 147.27
Lower-body $F_{50}(N)$	Y	46.44 ± 21.89	39.83 ± 24.97	36.80 ± 16.11	41.75 ± 28.02
	0	41.39 ± 15.58	40.69 ± 22.07	39.76 ± 17.11	36.65 ± 20.02
Lower-body $F_{100}(N)$	Y	250.09 ± 93.86	205.74 ± 96.91	188.65 ± 77.85	205.19 ± 96.80
	0	212.06 ± 79.83	185.59 ± 73.64	200.97 ± 72.13	166.85 ± 82.96
Lower-body $F_{150}(N)$	Y	384.00 ± 119.58	332.39 ± 111.11	318.65 ± 94.02	334.58 ± 123.24
	0	321.95 ± 99.69	286.31 ± 80.19	304.98 ± 93.70	267.43 ± 105.79
Lower-body $F_{200}(N)$	Y	471.90 ± 142.41	409.63 ± 115.16	394.74 ± 109.37	424.75 ± 144.84
	0	382.73 ± 106.09	348.07 ± 89.52	357.50 ± 100.97	329.29 ± 120.05
EMG ₀₋₁₀₀ (%)	Y	121.02 ± 80.90	91.60 ± 33.92	91.03 ± 49.98	83.22 ± 29.57
	0	103.61 ± 33.18	97.57 ± 51.77	99.40 ± 34.12	81.68 ± 54.00
EMG ₁₀₀₋₂₀₀ (%)	Y	106.28 ± 38.77	100.87 ± 39.84	86.74 ± 41.99	85.01 ± 23.60
	0	101.69 ± 32.31	90.39 ± 26.95	84.14 ± 27.36	84.58 ± 34.07
EMG _{MVC} (%)	Y	100.00 ± 0.00	94.07 ± 19.91	104.59 ± 35.32	117.35 ± 58.01
	0	100.00 ± 0.00	105.23 ± 11.66	114.14 ± 28.23	99.85 ± 26.59

Pre- (i.e. PRE) and post-exercise (i.e. P24, P48, P72) unadjusted raw values (mean ± SD) for all dependent variables

Y Young, O old, WRF work-related fatigue, VAS visual analog scale, CMJ countermovement jump, VL vastus lateralis, CSA cross sectional area, EI echointensity, BB biceps brachii, MT muscle thickness, PF peak force, $F_{50,200}$ force at specific time point (ms), $EMG_{0.100}$ electromyography amplitude at 0-100ms, $EMG_{100-200}$ electromyography amplitude at 100-200ms, EMG_{MVC} electromyography amplitude during MVC, AU aribitrary units

Note: (n=18) WRF: Y-P24; LB VAS: Y-PRE; CMJH: O-P24; VL CSA: O-PRE & P48; BB EI: O-P48; F₅₀: Y-P48; F₁₀₀, F₁₅₀, F₂₀₀, EMG₀₋₁₀₀, EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀, EMG_{MVC}: Y-PRE & P48, O-PRE

Note: (n=17) F₅₀: Y-PRE & P72, O-PRE, P24 & P72; F₁₀₀, F₁₅₀, F₂₀₀, EMG₀₋₁₀₀, EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀, EMG_{MVC}: Y-P72, O-P24, P48, P72 Note: (n=16) F₅₀: O-P48

Table 3: Unadjusted raw means for the training session

			č	1 5	•	5
	Group	WU	Set 1	Set 2	Set 3	Contrasts
RPE	Y	2.79 ± 1.08	6.25 ± 1.45	7.58 ± 1.22	8.95 ± 1.13	Time effect: WU < 1 < 2 < 3 (<i>P</i> < 0.001)
	0	3.28 ± 1.13	6.72 ± 1.36	8.00 ± 1.14	9.17 ± 0.79	
%HRR	Y	46.55 ± 14.63	75.03 ± 13.78	82.95 ± 9.52	86.81 ± 9.94	Group effect: Y > O (<i>P</i> =0.023)
	0	36.55 ± 11.97	67.50 ± 17.22	73.76 ± 16.08	76.88 ± 16.89	Time effect: WU < 1 < 2, 3 (<i>P</i> < 0.001)

Mean ± standard deviation (SD) raw values for training session descriptives in younger and older firefighters

Y young, O older, RPE rating of perceived exertion, %HRR percent of heart rate reserve, WU warm-up Note: (n=18) RPE: O-Set 3

Figure 1: Experimental design



Experimental Protocol: The dependent variables are shown on the left as VAS (visual analog scale), US (ultrasonography), CMJ (countermovement vertical jump), PF (peak force), and EMG (electromyography). The specific visits and sessions are noted on the horizontal axis. The arrows (\downarrow) represent measurements taken, VL=Vastus Lateralis, BB=Biceps Brachii, UB=Upper-body, and LB=Lower-body.

Figure 2: Changes in work-related fatigue



Changes in work-related fatigue (WRF) over the testing period (mean \pm SE). (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between groups.



Figure 3: Marginal mean changes in upper-body soreness

Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in upper-body soreness (UB VAS) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.



Figure 4: Marginal mean changes in lower-body soreness

Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in lower-body soreness (LB VAS) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (P<0.05) between time points.



Figure 5: Marginal mean changes in vastus lateralis cross-sectional area

Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in vastus lateralis cross-sectional area (VL CSA) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.



Figure 6: Marginal means for young and older groups' vastus lateralis echo-intensity

Adjusted marginal means (mean \pm SE) for young and older firefighters' vastus lateralis echointensity (VL EI). (*) significant difference (P < 0.05) between groups.
Figure 7: Marginal mean changes in biceps brachii muscle thickness



Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in biceps brachii muscle thickness (BB MT) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (P < 0.05) between time points.



Figure 8: Marginal means for countermovement jump height

- A) Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in countermovement jump (CMJ) height over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.
- **B)** Adjusted marginal means (mean \pm SE) for young and older firefighters' countermovement jump (CMJ) height. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between groups.



Figure 9: Marginal means for countermovement jump velocity

- A) Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in countermovement jump (CMJ) velocity over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.
- **B)** Adjusted marginal means (mean \pm SE) for young and older firefighters' countermovement jump (CMJ) velocity. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between groups.



Figure 10: Marginal mean changes in upper-body peak force

Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in upper-body peak force (UB PF) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.



Figure 11: Marginal means for young and older groups' lower-body peak force

Adjusted marginal means (mean \pm SE) for young and older firefighters' lower-body peak force (LB PF). (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between groups.



Figure 12: Marginal mean changes in lower-body force at 100ms

Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in lower-body force at 100ms (LB F₁₀₀) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.



Figure 13: Marginal mean changes in lower-body force at 150ms

Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in lower-body force at 150ms (LB F₁₅₀) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.



Figure 14: Marginal means for lower-body force at 200ms

- A) Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in lower-body force at 200ms (LB F₂₀₀) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.
- **B)** Adjusted marginal means (mean \pm SE) for young and older firefighters' lower-body force at 200ms (LB F₂₀₀). (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between groups.





Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in EMG amplitude at 0-100ms (EMG₀₋₁₀₀) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.

Figure 16: Marginal mean changes in EMG amplitude at 100-200ms



Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in EMG amplitude at 100-200ms (EMG₁₀₀₋₂₀₀) over the testing period. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.





Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in rating of perceived exertion (RPE) over the testing period. (†) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between all time points.





- A) Adjusted marginal mean changes (mean \pm SE) in percent of heart rate reserve (%HRR) over the testing period. (†) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between all time points. (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between time points.
- **B)** Adjusted marginal means (mean \pm SE) for young and older firefighters' percent of heart rate reserve (%HRR). (*) significant difference (*P*<0.05) between groups.

REFERENCES

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Public Safety Program: Burden, Need, and Impact. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; 2017.
- 2. Szubert Z, Sobala W. Work-related injuries among firefighters: sites and circumstances of their occurrence. *International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health.* 2002;15(1):49-55.
- 3. Haynes HJ, Molis JL. *US Firefighter Injuries-2015*. National Fire Protection Association. Fire Analysis and Research Division; 2016.
- 4. Poplin GS, Harris RB, Pollack KM, Peate WF, Burgess JL. Beyond the fireground: injuries in the fire service. *Injury Prevention*. 2011:injuryprev-2011-040149.
- 5. Walton SM, Conrad KM, Furner SE, Samo DG. Cause, type, and workers' compensation costs of injury to fire fighters. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*. 2003;43(4):454-458.
- 6. Leffer M, Grizzell T. Implementation of a physician-organized wellness regime (POWR) enforcing the 2007 NFPA standard 1582: injury rate reduction and associated cost savings. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2010;52(3):336-339.
- 7. Szubert Z, Sobala W. Health reason for firefighters to leave their job. *Medycyna Pracy*. 2001;53(4):291-298.
- 8. Storer TW, Dolezal BA, Abrazado ML, et al. Firefighter health and fitness assessment: a call to action. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2014;28(3):661-671.
- 9. Smith DL. Firefighter fitness: improving performance and preventing injuries and fatalities. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*. 2011;10(3):167-172.
- 10. Durand G, Tsismenakis AJ, Jahnke SA, Baur DM, Christophi CA, Kales SN. Firefighters' physical activity: relation to fitness and cardiovascular disease risk. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2011;43(9):1752-1759.
- 11. Andersen LL, Poulsen OM, Sundstrup E, et al. Effect of physical exercise on workplace social capital: Cluster randomized controlled trial. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health.* 2015;43(8):810-818.
- 12. Pedersen MT, Andersen LL, Jørgensen MB, Søgaard K, Sjøgaard G. Effect of specific resistance training on musculoskeletal pain symptoms: dose-response relationship. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2013;27(1):229-235.
- 13. Zavanela PM, Crewther BT, Lodo L, Florindo AA, Miyabara EH, Aoki MS. Health and fitness benefits of a resistance training intervention performed in the workplace. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2012;26(3):811-817.

- 14. Aagaard P, Simonsen EB, Andersen JL, Magnusson P, Dyhre-Poulsen P. Increased rate of force development and neural drive of human skeletal muscle following resistance training. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2002;93(4):1318-1326.
- 15. Staron R, Karapondo D, Kraemer W, et al. Skeletal muscle adaptations during early phase of heavy-resistance training in men and women. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1994;76(3):1247-1255.
- 16. Thompson BJ, Stock MS, Shields JE, et al. Barbell deadlift training increases the rate of torque development and vertical jump performance in novices. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research.* 2015;29(1):1-10.
- Henderson ND, Berry MW, Matic T. Field measures of strength and fitness predict firefighter performance on physically demanding tasks. *Personnel Psychology*. 2007;60(2):431-473.
- 18. Rhea MR, Alvar BA, Gray R. Physical fitness and job performance of firefighters. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research.* 2004;18(2):348-352.
- 19. Hilyer JC, Weaver MT, Gibbs JN, Hunter GR, Spruiell WV. In-Station Physical Training for Firefighters. *Strength & Conditioning Journal*. 1999;21(1):60.
- 20. Van Eerd D, Munhall C, Irvin E, et al. Effectiveness of workplace interventions in the prevention of upper extremity musculoskeletal disorders and symptoms: an update of the evidence. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2016;73(1):62-70.
- 21. Kong PW, Suyama J, Hostler D. A review of risk factors of accidental slips, trips, and falls among firefighters. *Safety Science*. 2013;60:203-209.
- 22. Haynes HJ, Stein GP. *US Fire Department Profile 2015*. National Fire Protection Association Quincy, MA; 2017.
- 23. Kosek DJ, Kim J-s, Petrella JK, Cross JM, Bamman MM. Efficacy of 3 days/wk resistance training on myofiber hypertrophy and myogenic mechanisms in young vs. older adults. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2006;101(2):531-544.
- 24. Petrella JK, Kim J-s, Cross JM, Kosek DJ, Bamman MM. Efficacy of myonuclear addition may explain differential myofiber growth among resistance-trained young and older men and women. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2006;291(5):E937-E946.
- 25. Damas F, Phillips SM, Libardi CA, et al. Resistance training-induced changes in integrated myofibrillar protein synthesis are related to hypertrophy only after attenuation of muscle damage. *Journal of Physiology*. 2016;594(18):5209-5222.
- 26. Roth SM, Martel GF, Ivey FM, et al. High-volume, heavy-resistance strength training and muscle damage in young and older women. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2000;88(3):1112-1118.

- 27. Peterson MD, Dodd DJ, Alvar BA, Rhea MR, Favre M. Undulation training for development of hierarchical fitness and improved firefighter job performance. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2008;22(5):1683-1695.
- 28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Fatalities among volunteer and career firefighters--United States, 1994-2004. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*. 2006;55(16):453-455.
- 29. Gledhill N, Jamnik V. Characterization of the physical demands of firefighting. *Canadian Journal of Sport Sciences*. 1992;17(3):207-213.
- 30. Reichard AA, Jackson LL. Occupational injuries among emergency responders. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*. 2010;53(1):1-11.
- 31. Haynes HJ, Molis JL. *US Firefighter Injuries-2016*. National Fire Protection Association. Fire Analysis and Research Division.; 2017.
- 32. Hong O, Phelps S, Feld J, Vogel S. Occupational injuries, duty status, and factors associated with injuries among firefighters. *Workplace Health & Safety*. 2012;60(12):517-523.
- 33. National Fire Protection Association. NFPA 1583 Standard on health-related fitness programs for fire fighters. 2000.
- 34. International Association of Fire Fighters. The Fire Service Joint Labor Management Wellness-Fitness Initiative. Washington, DC: International Association of Fire Fighters; 2008.
- 35. Lusa S, Louhevaara V, Smolander J, Kivimäki M, Korhonen O. Physiological responses of firefighting students during simulated smoke-diving in the heat. *American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal*. 1993;54(5):228-231.
- 36. Oksa J, Rintamäki H, Takatalo K, et al. Firefighters muscular recovery after a heavy work bout in the heat. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism.* 2012;38(3):292-299.
- 37. Williford HN, Duey WJ, Olson MS, Howard R, Wang N. Relationship between fire fighting suppression tasks and physical fitness. *Ergonomics*. 1999;42(9):1179-1186.
- 38. Lindberg A-S, Oksa J, Malm C. Laboratory or field tests for evaluating firefighters' work capacity? *PloS One.* 2014;9(3):e91215.
- 39. Michaelides MA, Parpa KM, Thompson J, Brown B. Predicting Performance on a Firefghter's Ability Test From Fitness Parameters. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport.* 2008;79(4):468-475.

- 40. Sheaff AK, Bennett A, Hanson ED, et al. Physiological determinants of the candidate physical ability test in firefighters. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2010;24(11):3112-3122.
- 41. Davis PO, Dotson CO, Santa DM. Relationship between simulated fire fighting tasks and physical performance measures. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 1982;14(1):65-71.
- 42. TriData Corporation. The Economic Consequences of Firefighter Injuries and Their Prevention. Final Report. In: Commerce USDo, ed. Arlington, VA: National Institute of Standards and Technology; 2005.
- 43. Poston WS, Haddock CK, Jahnke SA, Jitnarin N, Tuley BC, Kales SN. The prevalence of overweight, obesity, and substandard fitness in a population-based firefighter cohort. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2011;53(3):266-273.
- 44. Soteriades ES, Hauser R, Kawachi I, Liarokapis D, Christiani DC, Kales SN. Obesity and cardiovascular disease risk factors in firefighters: a prospective cohort study. *Obesity*. 2005;13(10):1756-1763.
- 45. Poston WS, Jitnarin N, Haddock CK, Jahnke SA, Tuley BC. The impact of surveillance on weight change and predictors of change in a population-based firefighter cohort. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2012;54(8):961-968.
- 46. Elliot DL, Goldberg L, Kuehl KS, Moe EL, Breger RK, Pickering MA. The PHLAME (Promoting Healthy Lifestyles: Alternative Models' Effects) firefighter study: outcomes of two models of behavior change. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2007;49(2):204-213.
- 47. Soteriades ES, Hauser R, Kawachi I, Christiani DC, Kales SN. Obesity and risk of job disability in male firefighters. *Occupational Medicine*. 2008;58(4):245-250.
- 48. Jitnarin N, Poston WS, Haddock CK, Jahnke SA, Day RS. Accuracy of body mass indexdefined obesity status in US firefighters. *Safety and Health at Work.* 2014;5(3):161-164.
- 49. Jahnke S, Poston W, Haddock C, Jitnarin N. Obesity and incident injury among career firefighters in the central United States. *Obesity*. 2013;21(8):1505-1508.
- 50. Poston WS, Jitnarin N, Haddock CK, Jahnke SA, Tuley BC. Obesity and Injury-Related Absenteeism in a Population-Based Firefighter Cohort. *Obesity*. 2011;19(10):2076-2081.
- 51. Tsismenakis AJ, Christophi CA, Burress JW, Kinney AM, Kim M, Kales SN. The obesity epidemic and future emergency responders. *Obesity*. 2009;17(8):1648-1650.
- 52. Fahs CA, Smith DL, Horn GP, et al. Impact of excess body weight on arterial structure, function, and blood pressure in firefighters. *American Journal of Cardiology*. 2009;104(10):1441-1445.

- 53. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, et al. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2011;43(7):1334-1359.
- 54. Li R, Xia J, Zhang X, et al. Associations of Muscle Mass and Strength with All-Cause Mortality among US Older Adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2017.
- 55. FitzGerald SJ, Barlow CE, Kampert JB, Morrow Jr JR, Jackson AW, Blair SN. Muscular fitness and all-cause mortality: prospective observations. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health.* 2004;1(1):7-18.
- 56. Metter EJ, Talbot LA, Schrager M, Conwit R. Skeletal muscle strength as a predictor of all-cause mortality in healthy men. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*. 2002;57(10):B359-B365.
- 57. Jurca R, Lamonte MJ, Barlow CE, Kampert JB, Church TS, Blair SN. Association of muscular strength with incidence of metabolic syndrome in men. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2005;37(11):1849.
- 58. Cornelissen VA, Fagard RH, Coeckelberghs E, Vanhees L. Impact of resistance training on blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk factors: a meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Hypertension*. 2011:HYPERTENSIONAHA. 111.177071.
- 59. Jay K, Frisch D, Hansen K, et al. Kettlebell training for musculoskeletal and cardiovascular health: a randomized controlled trial. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health.* 2011:196-203.
- 60. Nelson ME, Fiatarone M, Morganti M. Effects of High-Intensity Strength Training on Multiple Risk Factors. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 1994;272:1909-1914.
- 61. Brill PA, Macera CA, Davis DR, Blair SN, Gordon N. Muscular strength and physical function. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2000;32(2):412.
- 62. Bassey EJ, Fiatarone MA, O'neill EF, Kelly M, Evans WJ, Lipsitz LA. Leg extensor power and functional performance in very old men and women. *Clinical Science*. 1992;82(3):321-327.
- 63. Sillanpää E, Laaksonen DE, Häkkinen A, et al. Body composition, fitness, and metabolic health during strength and endurance training and their combination in middle-aged and older women. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2009;106(2):285-296.
- 64. Hunter GR, Brock DW, Byrne NM, Chandler-Laney PC, Corral P, Gower BA. Exercise training prevents regain of visceral fat for 1 year following weight loss. *Obesity*. 2010;18(4):690-695.

- 65. Zebis MK, Andersen LL, Pedersen MT, et al. Implementation of neck/shoulder exercises for pain relief among industrial workers: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2011;12(1):205.
- 66. Lidegaard M, Jensen RB, Andersen CH, et al. Effect of brief daily resistance training on occupational neck/shoulder muscle activity in office workers with chronic pain: randomized controlled trial. *BioMed Research International*. 2013;2013.
- 67. Sundstrup E, Jakobsen MD, Brandt M, Jay K, Aagaard P, Andersen LL. Strength Training Improves Fatigue Resistance and Self-Rated Health in Workers with Chronic Pain: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *BioMed Research International*. 2016;2016.
- 68. Pedersen MT, Blangsted AK, Andersen LL, Jørgensen MB, Hansen EA, Sjøgaard G. The effect of worksite physical activity intervention on physical capacity, health, and productivity: a 1-year randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2009;51(7):759-770.
- 69. Pawlak R, Clasey JL, Palmer T, Symons TB, Abel MG. The effect of a novel tactical training program on physical fitness and occupational performance in firefighters. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2015;29(3):578-588.
- 70. Morgan D, Allen D. Early events in stretch-induced muscle damage. *Journal of Applied physiology*. 1999;87(6):2007-2015.
- 71. Gibala M, MacDougall J, Tarnopolsky M, Stauber W, Elorriaga A. Changes in human skeletal muscle ultrastructure and force production after acute resistance exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1995;78(2):702-708.
- 72. Gibala MJ, Interisano SA, Tarnopolsky MA, et al. Myofibrillar disruption following acute concentric and eccentric resistance exercise in strength-trained men. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*. 2000;78(8):656-661.
- 73. Nosaka K, Newton M. Concentric or eccentric training effect on eccentric exerciseinduced muscle damage. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2002;34(1):63-69.
- 74. Buckley-Bleiler R, Maughan R, Clarkson P, Bleiler T, Whiting P. Serum creatine kinase activity after isometric exercise in premenopausal and postmenopausal women. *Experimental Aging Research*. 1989;15(4):195-198.
- 75. Chen TC-C, Chen H-L, Pearce AJ, Nosaka K. Attenuation of eccentric exercise–induced muscle damage by preconditioning exercises. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2012;44(11):2090-2098.
- 76. Friden J, Sjöström M, Ekblom B. Myofibrillar damage following intense eccentric exercise in man. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 1983;4(03):170-176.

- 77. Newham D, McPhail G, Mills K, Edwards R. Ultrastructural changes after concentric and eccentric contractions of human muscle. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 1983;61(1):109-122.
- 78. Damas F, Nosaka K, Libardi CA, Chen TC, Ugrinowitsch C. Susceptibility to exerciseinduced muscle damage: a cluster analysis with a large sample. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2016;37(08):633-640.
- 79. Nosaka K, Clarkson PM. Changes in indicators of inflammation after eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 1996;28(8):953-961.
- 80. Nosaka K, Newton M, Sacco P. Delayed-onset muscle soreness does not reflect the magnitude of eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports.* 2002;12(6):337-346.
- 81. Nosaka K, Clarkson P, Apple F. Time course of serum protein changes after strenuous exercise of the forearm flexors. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*. 1992;119(2):183-188.
- 82. Lavender AP, Nosaka K. Changes in fluctuation of isometric force following eccentric and concentric exercise of the elbow flexors. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2006;96(3):235-240.
- 83. Warren GL, Lowe DA, Hayes DA, Karwoski CJ, Prior BM, Armstrong R. Excitation failure in eccentric contraction-induced injury of mouse soleus muscle. *Journal of Physiology*. 1993;468(1):487-499.
- 84. Balnave C, Allen D. Intracellular calcium and force in single mouse muscle fibres following repeated contractions with stretch. *Journal of Physiology*. 1995;488(1):25-36.
- 85. Stauber W, Clarkson P, Fritz V, Evans W. Extracellular matrix disruption and pain after eccentric muscle action. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1990;69(3):868-874.
- 86. Morgan D. New insights into the behavior of muscle during active lengthening. *Biophysical Journal*. 1990;57(2):209-221.
- 87. Jones C, Allen T, Talbot J, Morgan D, Proske U. Changes in the mechanical properties of human and amphibian muscle after eccentric exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*. 1997;76(1):21-31.
- 88. Katz B. The relation between force and speed in muscular contraction. *Journal of Physiology*. 1939;96(1):45-64.
- 89. Wood S, Morgan D, Proske U. Effects of repeated eccentric contractions on structure and mechanical properties of toad sartorius muscle. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 1993;265(3):C792-C800.

- 90. Pettitt RW, Symons JD, Eisenman PA, Taylor JE, White AT. Repetitive eccentric strain at long muscle length evokes the repeated bout effect. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2005;19(4):918.
- 91. Philippou A, Bogdanis GC, Nevill AM, Maridaki M. Changes in the angle-force curve of human elbow flexors following eccentric and isometric exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2004;93(1-2):237-244.
- 92. Yu J-G, Carlsson L, Thornell L-E. Evidence for myofibril remodeling as opposed to myofibril damage in human muscles with DOMS: an ultrastructural and immunoelectron microscopic study. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*. 2004;121(3):219-227.
- 93. Friden J, Sjöström M, Ekblom B. A morphological study of delayed muscle soreness. *Experientia.* 1981;37(5):506-507.
- 94. Jones D, Newham D, Round J, Tolfree S. Experimental human muscle damage: morphological changes in relation to other indices of damage. *Journal of Physiology*. 1986;375(1):435-448.
- 95. Staron RS, Hikida RS, Murray TF, Nelson MM, Johnson P, Hagerman F. Assessment of skeletal muscle damage in successive biopsies from strength-trained and untrained men and women. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*. 1992;65(3):258-264.
- 96. Chazaud B. Inflammation during skeletal muscle regeneration and tissue remodeling: Application to exercise-induced muscle damage management. *Immunology & Cell Biology*. 2016;94(2):140-145.
- 97. Tidball JG, Dorshkind K, Wehling-Henricks M. Shared signaling systems in myeloid cell-mediated muscle regeneration. *Development*. 2014;141(6):1184-1196.
- 98. Paulsen G, Egner I, Drange M, et al. A COX-2 inhibitor reduces muscle soreness, but does not influence recovery and adaptation after eccentric exercise. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports.* 2010;20(1).
- 99. Beaton LJ, Tarnopolsky MA, Phillips SM. Contraction-induced muscle damage in humans following calcium channel blocker administration. *Journal of Physiology*. 2002;544(3):849-859.
- 100. Child R, Brown S, Day S, Donnelly A, Roper H, Saxton J. Changes in indices of antioxidant status, lipid peroxidation and inflammation in human skeletal muscle after eccentric muscle actions. *Clinical Science*. 1999;96(1):105-115.
- 101. Raastad T, Risøy BA, Benestad HB, Fjeld JG, Hallén J. Temporal relation between leukocyte accumulation in muscles and halted recovery 10–20 h after strength exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2003;95(6):2503-2509.

- 102. MacNeil LG, Baker SK, Stevic I, Tarnopolsky MA. 17β-estradiol attenuates exerciseinduced neutrophil infiltration in men. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory*, *Integrative and Comparative Physiology*. 2011;300(6):R1443-R1451.
- 103. Paulsen G, Crameri R, Benestad HB, et al. Time course of leukocyte accumulation in human muscle after eccentric exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2010;42(1):75-85.
- 104. Peake JM, Suzuki K, Wilson G, et al. Exercise-induced muscle damage, plasma cytokines, and markers of neutrophil activation. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2005;37(5):737-745.
- 105. Neubauer O, Sabapathy S, Lazarus R, et al. Transcriptome analysis of neutrophils after endurance exercise reveals novel signaling mechanisms in the immune response to physiological stress. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2013;114(12):1677-1688.
- 106. Neubauer O, Sabapathy S, Ashton KJ, et al. Time course-dependent changes in the transcriptome of human skeletal muscle during recovery from endurance exercise: from inflammation to adaptive remodeling. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2013;116(3):274-287.
- 107. Toumi H, Best T. The inflammatory response: friend or enemy for muscle injury? *British Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2003;37(4):284-286.
- 108. Paulsen G, Egner I, Raastad T, et al. Inflammatory markers CD11b, CD16, CD66b, CD68, myeloperoxidase and neutrophil elastase in eccentric exercised human skeletal muscles. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*. 2013;139(5):691-715.
- 109. Peake JM, Neubauer O, Della Gatta PA, Nosaka K. Muscle damage and inflammation during recovery from exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2016;122(3):559-570.
- 110. Nosaka K, Clarkson PM. Muscle damage following repeated bouts of high force eccentric exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 1995;27(9):1263-1269.
- 111. Manfredi TG, Fielding RA, O'reilly KP, Meredith CN, Lee HY, Evans WJ. Plasma creatine kinase activity and exercise-induced muscle damage in older men. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 1991;23(9):1028-1034.
- Clarkson PM, Nosaka K, Braun B. Muscle function after exercise-induced muscle damage and rapid adaptation. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 1992;24(5):512-520.
- Morelli RL, Carlson CJ, Emilson B, Abendschein DR, Rapaport E. Serum creatine kinase MM isoenzyme sub-bands after acute myocardial infarction in man. *Circulation*. 1983;67(6):1283-1289.
- 114. Sobel BE, Bresnahan GF, Shell WE, Yoder RD. Estimation of infarct size in man and its relation to prognosis. *Circulation*. 1972;46(4):640-648.

- 115. Maxwell JH, Bloor CM. Effects of conditioning on exertional rhabdomyolysis and serum creatine kinase after severe exercise. *Enzyme*. 1981;26:177-181.
- 116. de Meijer AR, Fikkers BG, de Keijzer MH, van Engelen BG, Drenth JP. Serum creatine kinase as predictor of clinical course in rhabdomyolysis: a 5-year intensive care survey. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2003;29(7):1121-1125.
- 117. Komulainen J, Takala T, Vihko V. Does increased serum creatine kinase activity reflect exercise-induced muscle damage in rats? *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 1995;16(03):150-154.
- 118. Sorichter S, Puschendorf B, Mair J. Skeletal muscle injury induced by eccentric muscle action: muscle proteins as markers of muscle fiber injury. *Exercise Immunology Review*. 1999;5:5-21.
- 119. Sorichter S, Koller A, Haid C, et al. Light concentric exercise and heavy eccentric muscle loading: effects on CK, MRI and markers of inflammation. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 1995;16(05):288-292.
- 120. Hyldahl RD, Chen TC, Nosaka K. Mechanisms and mediators of the skeletal muscle repeated bout effect. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*. 2017;45(1):24-33.
- 121. Newham D, Mills K, Quigley B, Edwards R. Pain and fatigue after concentric and eccentric muscle contractions. *Clinical Science*. 1983;64(1):55-62.
- 122. Chen TC, Lin K-Y, Chen H-L, Lin M-J, Nosaka K. Comparison in eccentric exerciseinduced muscle damage among four limb muscles. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2011;111(2):211-223.
- 123. Fujikake T, Hart R, Nosaka K. Changes in B-mode ultrasound echo intensity following injection of bupivacaine hydrochloride to rat hind limb muscles in relation to histologic changes. *Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology*. 2009;35(4):687-696.
- 124. Komi PV, Viitasalo JT. Changes in motor unit activity and metabolism in human skeletal muscle during and after repeated eccentric and concentric contractions. *Acta Physiologica*. 1977;100(2):246-254.
- 125. Deschenes MR, Brewer RE, Bush JA, McCoy RW, Volek JS, Kraemer WJ. Neuromuscular disturbance outlasts other symptoms of exercise-induced muscle damage. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 2000;174(2):92-99.
- 126. Byrne C, Eston R. The effect of exercise-induced muscle damage on isometric and dynamic knee extensor strength and vertical jump performance. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 2002;20(5):417-425.
- 127. Gleeson M, Blannin AK, Zhu B, Brooks S, Cave R. Cardiorespiratory, hormonal and haematological responses to submaximal cycling performed 2 days after eccentric or concentric exercise bouts. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 1995;13(6):471-479.

- 128. Gleeson M, Blannin AK, Walsh NP, Field CN, Pritchard JC. Effect of exercise-induced muscle damage on the blood lactate response to incremental exercise in humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*. 1998;77(3):292-295.
- 129. Warren GL, Lowe DA, Armstrong RB. Measurement tools used in the study of eccentric contraction-induced injury. *Sports Medicine*. 1999;27(1):43-59.
- 130. Sayers SP, Clarkson PM. Force recovery after eccentric exercise in males and females. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2001;84(1-2):122-126.
- 131. Gulbin J, Gaffney P. Identical twins are discordant for markers of eccentric exerciseinduced muscle damage. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2002;23(07):471-476.
- 132. Ebbeling CB, Clarkson PM. Muscle adaptation prior to recovery following eccentric exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*. 1990;60(1):26-31.
- Howell JN, Chleboun G, Conatser R. Muscle stiffness, strength loss, swelling and soreness following exercise-induced injury in humans. *Journal of Physiology*. 1993;464(1):183-196.
- 134. Jamurtas AZ, Theocharis V, Tofas T, et al. Comparison between leg and arm eccentric exercises of the same relative intensity on indices of muscle damage. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2005;95(2-3):179-185.
- 135. Beaton LJ, Tarnopolsky MA, Phillips SM. Variability in estimating eccentric contractioninduced muscle damage and inflammation in humans. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2002;27(5):516-526.
- 136. Byrne C, Eston R. Maximal-intensity isometric and dynamic exercise performance after eccentric muscle actions. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 2002;20(12):951-959.
- Child R, Saxton J, Donnelly A. Comparison of eccentric knee extensor muscle actions at two muscle lengths on indices of damage and anglespecific force production in humans. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 1998;16(4):301-308.
- 138. Hortobágyi T, Houmard J, Fraser D, Dudek R, Lambert J, Tracy J. Normal forces and myofibrillar disruption after repeated eccentric exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1998;84(2):492-498.
- 139. Paulsen G, Ramer Mikkelsen U, Raastad T, Peake JM. Leucocytes, cytokines and satellite cells: what role do they play in muscle damage and regeneration following eccentric exercise? *Exercise Immunology Review*. 2012;18.
- 140. Newton MJ, Morgan GT, Sacco P, Chapman DW, Nosaka K. Comparison of responses to strenuous eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors between resistance-trained and untrained men. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2008;22(2):597-607.

- 141. Vincent H, Vincent K. The effect of training status on the serum creatine kinase response, soreness and muscle function following resistance exercise. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 1997;28(06):431-437.
- 142. Carter A, Dobridge J, Hackney A. Influence of estrogen on markers of muscle tissue damage following eccentric exercise. *Human Physiology*. 2001;27(5):626-630.
- 143. Sugioka K, Shimosegawa Y, Nakano M. Estrogens as natural antioxidants of membrane phospholipid peroxidation. *Febs Letters*. 1987;210(1):37-39.
- 144. Hubal MJ, Rubinstein SR, Clarkson PM. Muscle function in men and women during maximal eccentric exercise. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2008;22(4):1332-1338.
- 145. Sewright KA, Hubal MJ, Kearns A, Holbrook MT, Clarkson PM. Sex differences in response to maximal eccentric exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2008;40(2):242-251.
- 146. Dannecker EA, Hausenblas HA, Kaminski TW, Robinson ME. Sex differences in delayed onset muscle pain. *Clinical Journal of Pain*. 2005;21(2):120-126.
- 147. Rinard J, Clarkson PM, Smith LL, Grossman M. Response of males and females to highforce eccentric exercise. *Journal of Sports Sciences*. 2000;18(4):229-236.
- 148. Flores DF, Gentil P, Brown LE, Pinto RS, Carregaro RL, Bottaro M. Dissociated time course of recovery between genders after resistance exercise. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research.* 2011;25(11):3039-3044.
- 149. Häkkinen K. Neuromuscular fatigue and recovery in male and female athletes during heavy resistance exercise. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*. 1993;14(02):53-59.
- 150. Goodpaster BH, Park SW, Harris TB, et al. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*. 2006;61(10):1059-1064.
- 151. Lexell J, Taylor CC, Sjöström M. What is the cause of the ageing atrophy?: Total number, size and proportion of different fiber types studied in whole vastus lateralis muscle from 15-to 83-year-old men. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*. 1988;84(2-3):275-294.
- Evans WJ, Lexell J. Human aging, muscle mass, and fiber type composition. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*. 1995;50(Special_Issue):11-16.
- 153. Aniansson A, Hedberg M, Henning GB, Grimby G. Muscle morphology, enzymatic activity, and muscle strength in elderly men: A follow-up study. *Muscle & Nerve*. 1986;9(7):585-591.

- 154. Stålberg E, Borges O, Ericsson M, et al. The quadriceps femoris muscle in 20–70-yearold subjects: Relationship between knee extension torque, electrophysiological parameters, and muscle fiber characteristics. *Muscle & Nerve.* 1989;12(5):382-389.
- 155. Larsson L, Sjödin B, Karlsson J. Histochemical and biochemical changes in human skeletal muscle with age in sedentary males, age 22–65 years. *Acta Physiologica*. 1978;103(1):31-39.
- 156. Choi SJ, Lim J-Y, Nibaldi EG, et al. Eccentric contraction-induced injury to type I, IIa, and IIa/IIx muscle fibers of elderly adults. *Age*. 2012;34(1):215-226.
- 157. Delbono O, O'rourke K, Ettinger W. Excitation-calcium release uncoupling in aged single human skeletal muscle fibers. *Journal of Membrane Biology*. 1995;148(3):211-222.
- 158. Plant DR, Lynch GS. Excitation-contraction coupling and sarcoplasmic reticulum function in lechanically skinned fibres from fast skeletal muscles of aged mice. *Journal of Physiology*. 2002;543(1):169-176.
- 159. Hamada K, Vannier E, Sacheck JM, Witsell AL, Roubenoff R. Senescence of human skeletal muscle impairs the local inflammatory cytokine response to acute eccentric exercise. *FASEB Journal*. 2005;19(2):264-266.
- 160. Gissel H, Clausen T. Excitation-induced Ca2+ influx and skeletal muscle cell damage. *Acta Physiologica*. 2001;171(3):327-334.
- 161. Choi SJ, Widrick JJ. Calcium-activated force of human muscle fibers following a standardized eccentric contraction. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*. 2010;299(6):C1409-C1417.
- 162. Kadi F, Charifi N, Denis C, Lexell J. Satellite cells and myonuclei in young and elderly women and men. *Muscle & Nerve*. 2004;29(1):120-127.
- 163. Verdijk LB, Snijders T, Drost M, Delhaas T, Kadi F, Van Loon LJ. Satellite cells in human skeletal muscle; from birth to old age. *Age*. 2014;36(2):545-557.
- 164. Rantanen J, Hurme T, Lukka R, Heino J, Kalimo H. Satellite cell proliferation and the expression of myogenin and desmin in regenerating skeletal muscle: evidence for two different populations of satellite cells. *Laboratory Investigation; A Journal of Technical Methods and Pathology.* 1995;72(3):341-347.
- 165. Warhol M, Siegel A, Evans W, Silverman L. Skeletal muscle injury and repair in marathon runners after competition. *American Journal of Pathology*. 1985;118(2):331.
- 166. Clarkson PM, Dedrick ME. Exercise-induced muscle damage, repair, and adaptation in old and young subjects. *Journal of Gerontology*. 1988;43(4):M91-M96.

- 167. Lavender AP, Nosaka K. Comparison between old and young men for changes in makers of muscle damage following voluntary eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism.* 2006;31(3):218-225.
- 168. Newham D, Jones D, Ghosh G, Aurora P. Muscle fatigue and pain after eccentric contractions at long and short length. *Clinical Science* 1988;74(5):553-557.
- 169. Nikolaidis MG. The Effects of Resistance Exercise on Muscle Damage, Position Sense, and Blood Redox Status in Young and Elderly Individuals. *Geriatrics*. 2017;2(3):20.
- 170. O'Reilly KP, Warhol MJ, Fielding RA, Frontera WR, Meredith CN, Evans WJ. Eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage impairs muscle glycogen repletion. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1987;63(1):252-256.
- 171. Dedrick ME, Clarkson PM. The effects of eccentric exercise on motor performance in young and older women. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology*. 1990;60(3):183-186.
- 172. Larsson L, Grimby G, Karlsson J. Muscle strength and speed of movement in relation to age and muscle morphology. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1979;46(3):451-456.
- 173. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Ross R. Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2000;89(1):81-88.
- 174. Gordon III JA, Hoffman JR, Arroyo E, et al. Comparisons in the Recovery Response From Resistance Exercise Between Young and Middle-Aged Men. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2017;31(12):3454-3462.
- Mclester JR, Bishop PA, Smith J, et al. A Series of Studies---A Practical Protocol for Testing Muscular Endurance Recovery. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2003;17(2):259-273.
- 176. Lavender AP, Nosaka K. Changes in markers of muscle damage of middle-aged and young men following eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport.* 2008;11(2):124-131.
- 177. Jones EJ, Bishop PA, Richardson MT, Smith JF. Stability of a practical measure of recovery from resistance training. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*. 2006;20(4):756.
- 178. Coburn JW, Malek MH. *NSCA's Essentials of Personal Training*. Vol Second Edition. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2012.
- 179. Mayhew JL, Ball TE, Arnold MD, Bowen JC. Relative Muscular Endurance Performance as a Predictor of Bench Press Strength in College Men and Women. *Journal of Strength* & Conditioning Research. 1992;6(4):200-206.

- 180. Bláfoss R, Micheletti JK, Sundstrup E, Jakobsen MD, Bay H, Andersen LL. Is fatigue after work a barrier for leisure-time physical activity? Cross-sectional study among 10,000 adults from the general working population. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health.* 2018:1403494818765894.
- 181. Rosenberg JG, Ryan ED, Sobolewski EJ, Scharville MJ, Thompson BJ, King GE. Reliability of panoramic ultrasound imaging to simultaneously examine muscle size and quality of the medial gastrocnemius. *Muscle & Nerve*. 2014;49(5):736-740.
- 182. Jenkins ND, Miller JM, Buckner SL, et al. Test–retest reliability of single transverse versus panoramic ultrasound imaging for muscle size and echo intensity of the biceps brachii. *Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology*. 2015;41(6):1584-1591.
- 183. Young HJ, Jenkins NT, Zhao Q, Mccully KK. Measurement of intramuscular fat by muscle echo intensity. *Muscle & Nerve*. 2015;52(6):963-971.
- 184. Ryan ED, Everett KL, Smith DB, et al. Acute effects of different volumes of dynamic stretching on vertical jump performance, flexibility and muscular endurance. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*. 2014;34(6):485-492.
- 185. Patricia Murray M, Baldwin JM, Gardner GM, Sepic SB, James Downs W. Maximum isometric knee flexor and extensor muscle contractions: normal patterns of torque versus time. *Physical Therapy*. 1977;57(6):637-643.
- 186. De Ruiter C, Kooistra R, Paalman M, De Haan A. Initial phase of maximal voluntary and electrically stimulated knee extension torque development at different knee angles. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2004;97(5):1693-1701.
- 187. Gerstner GR, Thompson BJ, Rosenberg JG, Sobolewski EJ, Scharville MJ, Ryan ED. Neural and Muscular Contributions to the Age-Related Reductions in Rapid Strength. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2017;49(7):1331-1339.
- 188. Hermens HJ, Freriks B, Disselhorst-Klug C, Rau G. Development of recommendations for SEMG sensors and sensor placement procedures. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*. 2000;10(5):361-374.
- 189. Schoenfeld BJ, Peterson MD, Ogborn D, Contreras B, Sonmez GT. Effects of low-vs. high-load resistance training on muscle strength and hypertrophy in well-trained men. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2015;29(10):2954-2963.
- 190. Medicine ACoS. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2009;41(3):687.
- 191. Robertson RJ, GOSS FL, RUTKOWSKI J, et al. Concurrent validation of the OMNI perceived exertion scale for resistance exercise. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2003;35(2):333-341.

- 192. Evarts B, Molis JL. *United States Firefighter Injuries 2017*. National Fire Protection Association. Fire Analysis and Research Division.; 2018.
- 193. Gerstner GR, Giuliani HK, Mota JA, Ryan ED. Age-related reductions in muscle quality influence the relative differences in strength and power. *Experimental Gerontology*. 2017;99:27-34.
- 194. Findley BW, Brown LE, Whitehurst M, Gilbert R, Apold SA. Age-group performance and physical fitness in male firefighters. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 1995;9(4):259-260.
- 195. Nazari G, MacDermid JC, Sinden KE, Overend TJ. Comparison of Canadian firefighters and healthy controls based on submaximal fitness testing and strength considering age and gender. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*. 2019;25(1):1-7.
- 196. Perroni F, Guidetti L, Cignitti L, Baldari C. Age-related changes in upper body strength and lower limb power of professional Italian firefighters. *Sport Sciences for Health*. 2015;11(3):279-285.
- 197. Lockie RG, Dawes JJ, Kornhauser CL, Holmes RJ. Cross-Sectional and Retrospective Cohort Analysis of the Effects of Age on Flexibility, Strength Endurance, Lower-Body Power, and Aerobic Fitness in Law Enforcement Officers. *Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*. 2019;33(2):451-458.
- Hubal MJ, Rubinstein SR, Clarkson PM. Mechanisms of variability in strength loss after muscle-lengthening actions. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*. 2007;39(3):461-468.
- 199. Peñailillo L, Blazevich A, Numazawa H, Nosaka K. Rate of force development as a measure of muscle damage. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*. 2015;25(3):417-427.
- 200. Crameri R, Aagaard P, Qvortrup K, Langberg H, Olesen J, Kjær M. Myofibre damage in human skeletal muscle: effects of electrical stimulation versus voluntary contraction. *Journal of Physiology.* 2007;583(1):365-380.
- 201. Paasuke M, Ereline J, Gapeyeva H. Knee extension strength and vertical jumping performance in nordic combined athletes. *Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*. 2001;41(3):354.
- 202. Thompson BJ. Does work-induced fatigue accumulate across three compressed 12 hour shifts in hospital nurses and aides? *PloS One*. 2019;14(2):e0211715.
- 203. Thompson BJ, Stock MS, Banuelas VK. Effects of accumulating work shifts on performance-based fatigue using multiple strength measurements in day and night shift nurses and aides. *Human Factors*. 2017;59(3):346-356.

204. Sbriccoli P, Felici F, Rosponi A, et al. Exercise induced muscle damage and recovery assessed by means of linear and non-linear sEMG analysis and ultrasonography. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*. 2001;11(2):73-83.